University of Texas at Arlington MavMatrix

Physics Dissertations

Department of Physics

2023

Novel Roles of Standard and Non-standard Null Lagrangians in Classical and Quantum Physics

Lesley Catherine Vestal

Follow this and additional works at: https://mavmatrix.uta.edu/physics_dissertations

Part of the Physics Commons

Recommended Citation

Vestal, Lesley Catherine, "Novel Roles of Standard and Non-standard Null Lagrangians in Classical and Quantum Physics" (2023). *Physics Dissertations*. 130. https://mavmatrix.uta.edu/physics_dissertations/130

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Department of Physics at MavMatrix. It has been accepted for inclusion in Physics Dissertations by an authorized administrator of MavMatrix. For more information, please contact leah.mccurdy@uta.edu, erica.rousseau@uta.edu, vanessa.garrett@uta.edu.

NOVEL ROLES OF STANDARD AND NON-STANDARD NULL LAGRANGIANS IN CLASSICAL AND QUANTUM PHYSICS

by

LESLEY CATHERINE VESTAL

Presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of The University of Texas at Arlington in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

THE UNIVERSITY OF TEXAS AT ARLINGTON May 2023

Copyright \bigodot by LESLEY CATHERINE VESTAL 2023

All Rights Reserved

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I am very thankful to Dr. Zdzislaw Musielak, my research advisor and friend. I am so thankful for your kindness, encouragement, patience, guidance, and wisdom. You taught me so much about research, how to write a paper, and mentorship. For a while, I had forgotten how fun theoretical physics research can be. Thank you for helping me remember this by introducing me to null Lagrangians, and for reminding me multiple times that things would turn out alright. Thank you also for teaching incredible courses, with fun historical stories sprinkled in for context, in which I enjoyed solving challenging problems and grew as a physicist.

To my committee, I am deeply thankful to you for taking the time to read and consider my work. Dr. Asaadi, thank you so much for teaching me more about experiential neutrino research, as well as Quantum Mechanics and Particle Physics. Dr. Weiss, thank you for also teaching me about experimental physics and the difference in a band pass filter and a low pass filter; thank you also for giving me the opportunity to teach a Physics II course. Dr. Lopez, thank you for being generous with your time in advising the Physics Graduate Student Association (PGSA) and helping charter a chapter of the APS Chapters Program. Dr. Zhang, thank you for teaching me multiple courses, for injecting fun stories into the lectures, and for being a great academic advisor.

Thank you to Ana Segovia. Working with you on your first research project was an honor, and it has been wonderful to watch you succeed as a researcher. Thank you also to my research group. Our weekly group meetings provided so much encouragement and I really enjoyed getting to know each of you. Thank you especially to Bao, one of my first friends at UTA and a great study partner. Dr. Marialis Rosario-Franco and Dr. Hadavand, I am thankful to you both for your encouragement and kind words during my Ph.D., but also because I do not think I would have begun my Ph.D. at UTA if not for the two of you. Thank you also to the many kind professors from whom I have learned much during my undergraduate and graduate course of study.

I am also thankful to my family, Becky, Tab, and Gary, and to my friends, Andrew, Beth, and Eric, who have become my family here in Arlington. Leslie, Juan, Maya, Zane, and Ben, thank you for many game nights and evenings around the fire pit.

Thank you to my partner, Ian, for your support and encouragement during this degree, on both good days and bad. I am also grateful for the unwavering support of my smallest friend, my cat, Madeline.

Dr. Musielak and Dr. Cleaver, as my Ph.D. and Masters advisors, I will forever be deeply grateful to both of you for believing in my ability to meaningfully contribute to this field during times that I did not believe in myself. Thank you both for your guidance and for your friendship.

April 25th, 2023

ABSTRACT

NOVEL ROLES OF STANDARD AND NON-STANDARD NULL LAGRANGIANS IN CLASSICAL AND QUANTUM PHYSICS

LESLEY CATHERINE VESTAL, Ph.D.

The University of Texas at Arlington, 2023

Supervising Professor: Zdzislaw E. Musielak

The three known families of Lagrangians are standard, non-standard, and null Lagrangians. While Lagrangians are widely used in physics for their ability to characterize physical systems, most of this work uses only standard Lagrangians. As such, standard Lagrangians have been studied in physics for around three hundred years; however, non-standard Lagrangians for systems in physics have been considered only for a few decades, and null have been ignored almost entirely. Although only some Lagrangians are null Lagrangians, all Lagrangians can be categorized as either standard or non-standard Lagrangians, meaning that there exist standard null Lagrangians and non-standard null Lagrangians. My dissertation is devoted to the study of null Lagrangians in physics, with some additional applications of non-standard Lagrangians.

Non-standard Lagrangians, which are Lagrangians with forms different from standard Lagrangians, have been studied in physics, but significantly less so than standard Lagrangians. This family of Lagrangians is known for having indiscernible kinetic and potential energy terms. However, it is shown herein that the non-standard Lagrangian for the Law of Inertia preserves its Galilean invariance, which is notably different from the standard Lagrangian formulation.

Null Lagrangians are a special family of Lagrangians known for yielding identically zero from the Euler-Lagrange equation, and, in this way, not contributing to the equation of motion. Although this special but lesser-known family of Lagrangians has been studied in Mathematics since the 1960s, very little work has been done concerning them outside of this field. Though it might seem that as a result they would be of little use for physical systems, this could not be farther from the truth. The work presented in this dissertation comprises what I hope will become the first step in a larger body of work exploring the role of null and non-standard Lagrangians for physical systems. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first PhD dissertation investigating null Lagrangians in physics.

I show how the addition of a null Lagrangian is sufficient to introduce force to a system, converting an undriven system to a driven one. In this way, forces naturally arise out of the gauge terms corresponding to these null Lagrangians. A formalism for constructing null Lagrangians for systems in dynamics, along with a generalized approach showing how null Lagrangians and their gauge functions can be linked to known forces, is developed and presented. Further, this formalism for introducing forces is extended to dissipative systems through an application to the Bateman oscillator system. It is then shown how nonlinearities can also be introduced through null Lagrangians, including the Duffing oscillator.

Compelling results from the application of null Lagrangians to physical systems of increasing complexity are presented and discussed. Particular attention is given to applications to oscillators, including the Bateman oscillator system, so as to illustrate the physical implications of the work. Null Lagrangians are found for equations with special function solutions in mathematical physics, including Bessel functions, and Legendre and Hermite polynomials. The connection between a system's Galilean invariance and how it behaves under the introduction of specific gauge functions corresponding to null Lagrangians is discussed and explored for multiple equations of key interest in physics.

As this work is not constrained to classical dynamics, I then show how to formulate physically consistent null Lagrangians for systems in quantum mechanics. The Galilean invariance of the Schrödinger Lagrangian is investigated. Null Lagrangians of a similar form to the Schrödinger Lagrangian are presented and whether they can be used to replace the phase factor required for the aforementioned Galilean invariance is discussed.

As we seek to better understand our universe, null Lagrangians have the potential to be a powerful new lens with which to view and investigate physical phenomena; what underlying symmetries might be uncovered using these new tools? The work presented in this dissertation shows that the investigation of null Lagrangians for systems in physics has already yielded exciting results, and that this promising area of research should be further explored.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

AC	CKNO	OWLEDGEMENTS	iv
AI	BSTR	ACT	vi
LI	ST O	F ILLUSTRATIONS	xii
LI	ST O	F TABLES	xiii
Ch	apter	r P	age
1.	Intro	oduction	1
2.	Bacl	kground	4
	2.1	Brief Historical Remarks and Motivation	4
	2.2	Lagrangian Formalism and Helmholtz Conditions	6
	2.3	Families of Lagrangians	8
		2.3.1 Standard Lagrangians	8
		2.3.2 Non-standard Lagrangians	9
		2.3.3 Null Lagrangians	11
	2.4	Main Goals of this Dissertation	13
3.	Stan	ndard and Non-standard Lagrangians for Dynamical Systems	15
	3.1	The Law of Inertia	15
		3.1.1 Standard and Non-standard Lagrangians	15
		3.1.2 Galilean Invariance	17
	3.2	Harmonic Oscillators	19
	3.3	Bateman Oscillators and the Caldirola-Kanai Lagrangian	20
	3.4	Special Functions of Mathematical Physics	24
	3.5	Biological Applications	28

	3.6	Summary	31
4.	Star	dard Null Lagrangians and their Novel Roles in Dynamics	\$4
	4.1	Methods to Construct Standard Null Lagrangians	15
		4.1.1 First Method $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots 3$	6
		4.1.2 Second Method	1
	4.2	Gauge Functions and Forces in Dynamics	4
	4.3	From Undriven to Driven Dynamical Systems	8
	4.4	Gauge Functions for Bateman Oscillators	52
	4.5	Additional Forces in Dynamical Systems	57
	4.6	Gauge Functions and Nonlinear Dynamics	59
	4.7	Gauge Functions for Equations with Special Function Solutions 6	51
	4.8	Summary	i5
5.	Non	standard Null Lagrangians and their Applications to Dynamics 6	i 8
	5.1	Methods to Construct Non-standard Null Lagrangians 6	;9
	5.2	Non-standard Null Lagrangians and Forces in Classical Mechanics 7	'1
	5.3	Galilean Invariance of Dissipative Forces	'6
	5.4	Relationships Between Null and Non-standard Lagrangians 7	'8
	5.5	Chapter Summary 8	30
6.	The	Role of Null Lagrangians in Quantum Mechanics 8	31
	6.1	Method to Construct Null Lagrangians for Quantum Fields 8	\$2
	6.2	Galilean Invariance of Schrödinger Equation and its Phase Factor 8	\$5
	6.3	Galilean Invariance of the Schrödinger Lagrangian	37
	6.4	Schrödinger Lagrangian and its Null Lagrangians 9)0
	6.5	Null Lagrangians and Schrödinger Phase Factor)2
	6.6	Summary and Future Work)4
7.	Disc	ussion and Conclusions)6

8. Future Work		re Work	99
	8.1	Gauge Functions and Canonical Transformations	99
	8.2	Null Lagrangians for Systems in Quantum Mechanics	100
	8.3	Additional Future Work	101
Ap	pend	ix	
А.			102
REFERENCES			

LIST OF ILLUSTRATIONS

Figure		Page
4.1	Selected equations with special function solutions and their correspond-	
	ing gauge functions. By the choice of α , β and $\gamma,$ different (regu-	
	lar, modified, spherical and spherical modified) Bessel equations are	
	obtained (Dange, Vestal, & Musielak 2021)	66

LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
3.1	Values of the constants α , β , γ , and μ in Equation (3.24) corresponding	
	to the four types of Bessel equations	33
4.1	Selected forces in dynamical systems and their gauge functions, from	
	Goldstein et al. (2002), José et al. (2002), and Kahn (1990) \ldots	58
4.2	Selected nonlinearities in dynamical systems, from Goldstein et al.	
	(2002), José et al. (2002) , and Abraham et al. (2008) , and their gauge	
	functions.	61

CHAPTER 1

Introduction

In modern physics, the equations of motion, which describe the time and space evolution of different physical systems, are obtained by using the laws of physics. The equation of motion for a given physical system can also be derived by using the socalled Lagrangian formalism; this is the primary topic of research of this dissertation. The formalism was originally developed by Euler (1744) and Lagrange (1788). This effective and elegant procedure is commonly used in classical and quantum mechanics and is based on the principle of least action. This principle was first formulated by Maupertuis (1742) and its modern form was proposed nearly a century later by Hamilton (1834). The principle requires a function that is now known as a Lagrangian, the knowledge of which is necessary to obtain an equation of motion. Different equations of motion require different Lagrangians, which means that they must be known before the equations of motion are derived. As no theory exists as of yet that allows for the construction of Lagrangians from first principles, the forms of such Lagrangians are often initially found simply by guessing the necessary form such that they yield the equations of motion, which are already known, for given dynamical systems.

The first attempts at finding a formalism to replace this method of 'guessing' Lagrangians for a given system by their actual derivations dates back to Helmholtz (1886), who formulated special conditions for the existence of Lagrangians for a general form of second-order differential equations; these include those known in physics. Over the years, a number of different methods of deriving Lagrangians for given equations of motion have been developed and detailed references to such work can be found in the following chapters of this dissertation. It is well known that Lagrangians are not unique and that different Lagrangians may give the same equation of motion.

Typically, Lagrangians are classified as standard and non-standard. In standard Lagrangians, which are very common in physics, the kinetic and potential energy-like terms can easily be identified. Non-standard, however, have indistinguishable kinetic and potential energy terms. Nevertheless, despite having very different mathematical and physical forms, both standard and non-standard Lagrangians they give the same equations of motion; both of these types of Lagrangians are investigated in this dissertation. Further, an additional family of Lagrangians is that of null Lagrangians, whose main characteristic is that their addition to a standard or non-standard Lagrangian makes no difference in the resulting equation of motion. This could be taken to imply that null Lagrangians are of no significance in physics. Thus, the main aim of this dissertation is to demonstrate the novel role of null Lagrangians in non-relativistic classical and quantum physics.

This dissertation is organized as follows: Chapter 2 presents the background for my research by reviewing the Lagrangian formalism along with a brief look at the historical context of Lagrangians. This chapter introduces the three families of Lagrangians I will discuss: standard, non-standard, and null Lagrangians. In Chapter 3, I illustrate the difference in standard and non-standard Lagrangians; special attention is given to the Law of Inertia. The Bateman oscillators are also introduced and discussed.

Chapters 4 through 6 contain my work with Null Lagrangians. In Chapter 4, I begin with methods to construct null Lagrangians, including a generalized approach; further, I show how forces naturally arise out of the gauge terms corresponding to these null Lagrangians. I then present a compelling result from an application of standard null Lagrangians to physical systems of increasing complexity. Particular attention is given to applications to oscillators, including the Bateman oscillator system, to illustrate the physical implications of the work. I also introduce a connection to nonlinearities and show that nonlinear terms can be formulated in a similar way to what was done for forces.

Chapter 5 expands the formalism presented in the chapter preceding it and extends this work to non-standard and non-standard null Lagrangians. An application of the null Lagrangian formalism to special functions of key interest in physics is also presented. The introduction of Galilean invariance by way of the gauge functions associated with null Lagrangians is then discussed. In Chapter 6, I show how to construct null Lagrangians for quantum fields. The Galilean invariance of the Schrödinger equation is investigated, along with that of the Schrödinger Lagrangian, and the associated phase factor is discussed.

Chapter 7 is a summary of key points and findings of my research. Conclusions are drawn and I explore the implications of these results. Further, suggestions are made for possible future work in this promising area of physics.

CHAPTER 2

Background

2.1 Brief Historical Remarks and Motivation

The basic concepts of the calculus of variations were originally established by Euler (1744). Euler was motivated by work done a couple years prior by de Maupertuis (1742), who is credited with formulating the principle of least action around the same time. Notably, some historians point out that Leibniz had already presented the first version of this principle around 1707. Lagrange (1788) then refined Euler's approach and used it to demonstrate that there is a function, which is now known as a Lagrangian, whose prior knowledge is sufficient to derive the equations of Newtonian dynamics. Lagrange's results were published in his work, *Analytical Mechanics*, first in 1788. The principle of least action as formulated by Lagrange applies only to virtual paths whose energy is the same as the real path. This limitation was then removed by William R. Hamilton in 1834, who formulated his version of the principle that is now known as *Hamilton's Principle*.

Hamilton's Principle can be stated as follows: 'A mechanical system moves from one configuration to another in such a way that the variation of the integral of the Lagrangian over time between the path taken and a neighboring virtual path, coterminous in space and time with the actual path, is zero.' This means that a function called a Lagrangian must be specified for the principle to be applied. The existence of this function for second-order ordinary differential equations (ODEs) is guaranteed by a set of conditions proposed by Helmholtz (1886); the conditions can also be used to derive Lagrangians for such ODEs. For the next hundred years, most Lagrangians considered were standard, in reference to the original Lagrangian for Newton's laws of dynamics, introduced first by Lagrange (1788). Note that standard Lagrangians, as aforementioned, are characterized by the difference between the kinetic and potential energy terms.

Standard Lagrangians are also sometimes called natural Lagrangians. Further, Arnold (1978) is credited with first introducing non-natural Lagrangians, which do not have terms that have clearly discernible energy-like forms but yield the same equations of motion. Non-natural Lagrangians are now more commonly known as non-standard Lagrangians and this is the name that will be used to refer to them throughout this dissertation. Null Lagrangians, also known as trivial Lagrangians, have been studied in mathematics since early sixties (e.g., Edelen 1962; Eriksen 1962) and still remain an active area of research in mathematics. Null Lagrangians, another lesser known family of Lagrangians, were virtually ignored in physics with the exception of elasticity, where null Lagrangians were associated with the energy density function of materials (e.g., Anderson et al., 1999). A more detailed description of non-standard and null Lagrangians is given in Section 2.3.

The primary motivation for performing the research presented in this dissertation was to gain new insight into the physical meaning of null Lagrangians and to use this insight to explore the different ways that these Lagrangians may contribute to classical and quantum physics. Because of this strong physical motivation, the described research and presented results are novel in physics and significantly different than those obtained previously by mathematicians. Rather, the main emphasis of this dissertation is on the physical aspects of null Lagrangians and their applications to physical systems as well as implications for these systems. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first PhD dissertation in physics fully devoted to null Lagrangians and their novel roles in classical and quantum mechanics.

2.2 Lagrangian Formalism and Helmholtz Conditions

The Lagrange formalism deals with a functional $\mathcal{A}[x(t)]$, where A is the action and x(t) is an ordinary (with the maps $x : \mathcal{R} \to \mathcal{R}$, with \mathcal{R} denoting the real numbers) and smooth (with at least two continuous derivatives \mathcal{C}^2) function to be determined. Typically, $\mathcal{A}[x(t)]$ is given by an integral over a smooth function $L(\dot{x}, x, t)$ that is called a Lagrangian and \dot{x} , which is a derivative of x with respect to t. The integral as defined in this way is a mathematical representation of Hamilton's Principle (Hamilton, 1834, Goldstein et al., 2002), which requires that $\delta \mathcal{A} = 0$, where δ is the variation known also as the functional (or Fréchet) derivative of $\mathcal{A}[x(t)]$ with respect to x(t). Using $\delta \mathcal{A} = 0$, the Euler-Lagrange (E-L) equation is obtained, and this equation is a necessary condition for the action to be stationary (to have either a minimum or maximum or saddle point).

Let EL be the Euler-Lagrange operator defined as

$$\hat{EL} = \frac{d}{dt}\frac{\partial}{\partial\dot{x}} - \frac{\partial}{\partial x} . \qquad (2.1)$$

The E-L equation then becomes $\hat{EL}[L(\dot{x}, x, t)] = 0$. In general, this equation gives a second-order ODE that can be further solved to obtain x(t) that makes the action stationary. This procedure of deriving the second-order ODE from the E-L equation is known as the *Lagrangian formalism*; notably, this formalism requires prior knowledge of $L(\dot{x}, x, t)$, either as a standard or non-standard form as both give the same equation of motion. To fully establish the Lagrangian formalism for ordinary differential equations (ODEs), methods to construct standard or non-standard Lagrangians for a given ODE must be developed (see Section 2.3). The construction of Lagrangians for given ODEs is called the inverse calculus of variations problem, also referred to as the Helmholtz problem. The existence of Lagrangians is guaranteed by the Helmholtz conditions (Helmholtz, 1887; Lopuszanski, 1999), which are necessary and sufficient conditions. Let $F_i(\ddot{x}_j, \dot{x}_j, x_j, t) =$ 0 be a set of *n* ODEs, with i = 1, 2, ..., n and j = 1, 2, ..., n. The Helmholtz conditions are then

$$\frac{\partial F_i}{\partial \ddot{x}_j} = \frac{\partial F_j}{\partial \dot{x}_i} , \qquad (2.2)$$

$$\frac{\partial F_i}{\partial x_j} - \frac{\partial F_j}{\partial x_i} = \frac{1}{2} \frac{d}{dt} \left(\frac{\partial F_i}{\partial \dot{x}_j} - \frac{\partial F_j}{\partial \dot{x}_i} \right) , \qquad (2.3)$$

and

$$\frac{\partial F_i}{\partial \dot{x}_j} + \frac{\partial F_j}{\partial \dot{x}_i} = 2 \frac{d}{dt} \left(\frac{\partial F_j}{\partial \ddot{x}_i} \right) . \tag{2.4}$$

Further, the conditions can be used to verify whether or not a Lagrangian exists for a given ODE. For the case that it does exist, the Lagrangian can then be found from these conditions. Notably, all standard Lagrangians satisfy these conditions. The same should be true for non-standard Lagrangians; however, there are some exceptions (e.g., Musielak et al., 2020). Note that null Lagrangians identically satisfy the Helmholtz conditions, which means that they cannot be determined by these conditions. Therefore, null Lagrangians can be added to any standard or non-standard Lagrangian without changing the original equation or affecting the Helmholtz condtions.

The Lagrangian formalism requires prior knowledge of a Lagrangian. In general, there are no first principle methods to obtain Lagrangians, which are typically presented without any explanation as to their origin. In physics, most equations of motion were established first and only then were their Lagrangians found, which was often done simply by guessing. Once the Lagrangians are known, the process of finding the resulting dynamical equations is straightforward and can be done by substituting the given Lagrangians into the E-L equation.

2.3 Families of Lagrangians

2.3.1 Standard Lagrangians

Lagrangians are widely used in physics to characterize physical systems and obtain their equations of motion. As originally shown by Lagrange (see Lagrange 1997), Lagrangians for one-dimensional dynamical systems represent the difference between the kinetic and potential energy of these systems, and they can be written as $L(\dot{x}, x) = \dot{x}^2/2 - V(x)$, with V(x) being the potential energy; note that the energies are given per unit mass. It is common to call such Lagrangians standard.

The main characteristic of standard Lagrangians is that their kinetic and potential energy terms can be easily identified. Following Lagrange, in standard Lagrangians the potential energy $E_{pot}(x)$ is subtracted from the kinetic energy, $E_{kin}(\dot{x})$. Rather, $L(\dot{x}, x) = E_{kin}(\dot{x}) - E(x)$. The equation of motion resulting from this Lagrangian is derived from $\hat{EL}[L(\dot{x}, x)] = 0$; it is a second-order ODE. Further, this obtained equation of motion describes the time evolution of the system whose Lagrangian is $L(\dot{x}, x)$. Physical systems with well-defined Lagrangians must be conservative, as non-conservative systems require significant modifications of standard Lagrangians, which make these Lagrangians non-standard; this transition from standard to non-standard Lagrangians is explored in this dissertation, and specific physical examples are presented and discussed in Chapter 3.

Standard Lagrangians are well-known for conservative dynamical systems of classical mechanics (CM) such as the law of inertia, undriven and undamped harmonic oscillators, a linear, undamped pendulum, and other systems. There has also been some progress in deriving standard and non-standard Lagrangians for physical systems described by different ODEs (e.g., Helmholtz 1887; Douglas 1941; Hojman 1984, 1992; Musielak 2008; Cieslinski & Nikiciuk 2010; Musielak et al. 2020a, 2020b). Further, there are standard Lagrangians for quantum systems described by the Schrödinger equation (e.g., Doughty 1990), which can be derived from the Lagrangian formalism that deals with fields and wave functions instead of classical particles (see Chapter 6).

2.3.2 Non-standard Lagrangians

Unlike standard Lagrangians, non-standard Lagrangians (NSLs) are Lagrangians whose potential and kinetic energy terms are not easily distinguishable. The role of standard Lagrangians, which have kinetic and potential energy-like terms that can easily be identified, has been well established in classical mechanics (e.g., Lagrange 1997; Goldstein et al. 2002; Jose & Saletan 2002). Notably, so-called non-standard Lagrangians have only been introduced to CM in recent years (e.g., Arnold 1978; Chandrasekhar et al. 2005; Carinena et al. 2005; Nucci & Leach 2007, 2008a, 2008b; Musielak 2008, 2009; Cieslinski & Nikiciuk 2010; Saha & Talukdar 2014; El-Nabulsi 2011, 2014, 2017; Davachi & Musielak 2019). Non-standard Lagrangians have not yet been exhaustively studied in physics.

A general non-standard Lagrangian (e.g., Musielak 2009; Cieslinski & Nikiciuk 2010) can be written in the following form

$$L_{ns1}[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t] = \frac{1}{g_1(t)\dot{x}(t) + g_2(t)x(t) + g_3(t)} , \qquad (2.5)$$

where $g_1(t), g_2(t)$ and $g_3(t)$ are arbitrary, but at least twice differentiable, scalar functions of time t. This Lagrangian can be used to obtain equations of motion for dynamical systems whose coefficients depend only on time, t. However, in the case that the coefficients are functions of the dependent variable, x(t), the non-standard Lagrangian must be of a different form (e.g., Musielak 2009), and written as

$$L_{ns2}[\dot{x}(t), x(t)] = \frac{1}{G_1(x)\dot{x}(t) + G_2(x)x(t) + G_3(x)},$$
(2.6)
9

where $G_1(x), G_2(x)$ and $G_3(x)$ are arbitrary, scalar functions that must be at least twice differentiable. The Lagrangian $L_{ns1}[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t]$ has been extensively studied in the literature (e.g., Musielak 2008, 2009, 2021; Cieslinski & Nikiciuk 2010; and recently Segovia, Vestal, & Musielak 2022). However, studies of $L_{ns2}[\dot{x}(t), x(t)]$ are rather limited (e.g., Musielak 2009; and recently Pham & Musielak 2022). Both Lagrangians are investigated herein and their specific applications to different dynamical systems is presented and discussed in Chapter 3.

The main procedure for finding these two NSLs is to substitute $L_{ns1}[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t]$ and $L_{ns2}[\dot{x}(t), x(t)]$ into the corresponding E-L equations, and then, by comparing the resulting equation to the original (given) equation of motion, the functions are evaluated. The equations of motion must be of specific forms to allow for determining these functions. The Lagrangians $L_{ns1}[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t]$ and $L_{ns2}[\dot{x}(t), x(t)]$ are applicable to the following respective equations of motion

$$\ddot{x} + a(t)\dot{x}^2 + b(t)\dot{x} + c(t)x = 0 , \qquad (2.7)$$

and

$$\ddot{x} + \alpha(x)\dot{x}^2 + \beta(x)\dot{x} + \gamma(x)x = 0.$$
(2.8)

The coefficients a(t), b(t), c(t), $\alpha(x)$, $\beta(x)$ and $\gamma(x)$ are at least twice differentiable functions, and they are given by the form of the equation of motion. The functions $g_1(t)$, $g_2(t)$ and $g_3(t)$ are expressed in terms of the coefficients a(t), b(t) and c(t) by substituting $L_{ns1}(\dot{x}, x, t)$ into the E-L equation. However, the functions $G_1(x)$, $G_2(x)$ and $G_3(x)$ are determined by substituting $L_{ns2}(\dot{x}, x)$ into the E-L equation, which allows for these functions to be expressed in terms of the coefficients $\alpha(x)$, $\beta(x)$, and $\gamma(x)$.

The above results show that the form of the derived NSL is very specific for a given equation of motion. For this reason, NSLs are often considered to be the generating functions that allow for finding equations of motion independently from standard Lagrangians. One of the main goals of this dissertation is to gain new insight into the physical meaning of NSLs, which will be done in Chapter 3, where physical examples of NSLs, namely, $L_{ns1}[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t]$ and $L_{ns2}[\dot{x}(t), x(t)]$, are presented for several dynamical systems.

2.3.3 Null Lagrangians

Lagrangians belonging to the family of Lagrangians called trivial, or null, Lagrangians (NLs) have two main characteristics, namely, they identically yield zero from the E-L operator (see Eq. 2.1), and they have corresponding gauge functions. These gauge functions are scalar functions with total derivatives that are equal to NLs. These properties make it such that NLs do not contribute to the equations of motion resulting from the E-L equation as standard or non-standard Lagrangians do when substituted into it. Thus, from a physical point of view, one may consider NLs to be of no interest for any physical applications. It is the main goal of this dissertation to demonstrate that this view is incorrect and that NLs do play important roles in physics; it will further be shown that these roles are very different than those identified by mathematicians in different fields of mathematics.

Studies of NLs in mathematics date back to the early sixties (Edelen 1962; Eriksen 1962) and have continued throughout the years (e.g., Krupka 1973; Ball et al. 1981; Hojman 1984; Olver 1993; and others). Null Lagrangians are also an active current area of research in mathematics (e.g., Crampin and Saunders 2005; Krupka et al. 2010; Olver 2022; and others). However, NLs have not been used for practical applications in physics until more recent work (e.g., Musielak & Watson 2020a,b; Vestal & Musielak 2021; 2023); the only exception is application of NLs in elasticity, where NLs were identified with the energy density function of materials (e.g., Anderson et al. 1999; Saccomandi & Vitolo 2006).

Specifically, recent physical applications involved restoring the Galilean invariance of Lagrangians in Newtonian dynamics (Musielak & Watson 2020a), and introducing non-dissipative forces to dynamical systems (Musielak & Watson 2020b; Vestal & Musielak 2021), nonlinearities (Vestal & Musielak 2023), and dissipative forces (Segovia et al. 2022); notably, the introduction of forces in these applications was done independently from the original approach used by Newton and others. In the described work, it was also recognized that null Lagrangians can be divided into two families, namely, the so-called standard and non-standard null Lagrangians. The primary differences between these two families of NLs are very similar to those aforementioned for the SLs and NSLs. In this dissertation, both standard and non-standard null Lagrangians are investigated; many different applications of these Lagrangians in physics are presented and discussed in Chapters 4, 5, and 6.

Recent studies of null Lagrangians demonstrated that there is a different condition that is obeyed by NLs and, further, that this condition plays the same role for NLs as the E-L equation plays for SLs and NSLs. According to recent work by Das and Musielak (2022), the condition can be written as

$$\frac{dL_{null}(\dot{x},x)}{dt} = \frac{\partial L_{null}}{\partial t} + \dot{x}\frac{\partial L_{null}}{\partial x} + \ddot{x}\frac{\partial L_{null}}{\partial \dot{x}} = 0 , \qquad (2.9)$$

and it shows that the substitution of any NL into Eq. (2.6) results in an equation of motion. However, according to Das & Musielak (2022), the resulting equations of motion are limited because their coefficients are required to obey relationships that are different for different equations of motion. It was recently shown (Das & Musielak 2023) that the limitations of this approach can be removed by a significant generalization of the original method and its basic Eq. (2.9); for more details, see Chapter 5.

In the work performed by Das & Musielak (2022, 2023), it was also demonstrated that the inverse of any null Lagrangian generates a non-standard Lagrangian, whose substitution into the E-L equation gives a new equation of motion. This is an interesting result that shows the close relationship between NLs and NSLs. This relationship allows for the construction of new NSLs for all known NLs, and for new equations of motion for dynamical systems to be obtained. The results of Das & Musielak (2022, 2023) will be used in Chapter 5 to relate the derived NLs to NSLs and the resulting equations of motion will be discussed.

2.4 Main Goals of this Dissertation

The primary goal of this dissertation is to communicate the impact and potential of null Lagrangians for research in physics, as well as the work being done. Herein, I aim to show how null and non-standard Lagrangians can be used to characterize systems in physics; the addition of a null Lagrangian to a standard Lagrangian for a given system is shown to be sufficient to convert an undriven, conservative system to one that is driven.

I also present a generalized formalism for directly relating forces and gauges. Forces arise out of gauge terms by way of their corresponding null Lagrangians. This formalism is a new way of introducing forces to systems in physics. Further, nonlinearities can be introduced to a system also through the addition of a null Lagrangian.

Another goal of this dissertation is to present the work that has been done thus far concerning null Lagrangians and gauge functions for systems in physics. As the study of null Lagrangians is relatively new in physics, it is advantageous to discuss the work that has been done. Further, null Lagrangians are presented for special functions of key importance in physics. Finally, it is also shown how null Lagrangians can be written for systems in quantum mechanics.

As much of our physical universe is not yet understood, investigating underlying symmetries, such as the way gauge terms are able to introduce forces and nonlinearities to a system, may shed light on phenomena not as-of-yet understood. Viewing physical phenomena through this new lens may be the key to new connections and compelling discoveries.

CHAPTER 3

Standard and Non-standard Lagrangians for Dynamical Systems

Standard Lagrangians (SLs) have been widely used in multiple areas of physics since being originally introduced by Lagrange in 1788 (see Lagrange 1997), and their specific applications to derive the equations of motion for several well-known dynamical systems will be discussed in this chapter. However, non-standard Lagrangians have been used only recently, and the main reason for this is the fact that NSLs lack distinguishable kinetic and potential energy terms, thus, their physical meaning still remains unclear. Therefore, the emphasis of this chapter will be mainly on NSLs, as SLs are commonly known and presented in most textbooks of classical mechanics and dynamics. One of the goals of this dissertation is to present NSLs for several well-known dynamical systems and also to give new insight into the physical meaning of the NSLs as well as to discuss their potentials as new and promising tools to study dynamical systems (e.g., Goldstein et al. 2002; José & Saletan 2002). The following presentation of SLs and NSLs begins with Newton's law of inertia.

3.1 The Law of Inertia

3.1.1 Standard and Non-standard Lagrangians

Newton's first law, also called the law of inertia, describes the motion of an object with an unchanging velocity. It states that a body at rest will stay at rest and a body in motion at a constant speed will maintain this motion unless acted upon by an outside force (see Goldstein et al. 2002; Jose & Saletan 2002). For the law of inertia, the SL is well known and was originally derived by Lagrange in 1788 (see Lagrange 1997); it can be written as

$$L_s(\dot{x}) = \frac{1}{2}\dot{x}^2.$$
 (3.1)

Substitution of $L_s(\dot{x})$ into the E-L equation gives the equation of motion, $\ddot{x} = 0$ (e.g., Goldstein et al. 2002; Jose & Saletan 2002). Notably, while the equation of motion is invariant with respect to all transformations that form the Galilean group of the metric (Landau & Lifshitz 1969; Levy-Leblond 1963, 1967), its SL is not; however, it was recently shown that the Galilean invariance of $L_s(\dot{x})$ can be restored by using a null Lagrangian (Musielak & Watson 2020). Further discussion of this problem can be found in Chapter 5.

A general form of NSLs is given by Eq. (2.5) and, after evaluation of its functions $g_1(t), g_2(t)$, and $g_3(t)$ by using the law of inertia, the following NSL is obtained

$$L_{ns}[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t] = \frac{1}{C_1(a_o t + v_o)^2[(a_o t + v_o)\dot{x}(t) - a_o x(t) + C_2]},$$
(3.2)

where C_1 and C_2 are constants of integration, with v_o and a_o specified by the initial conditions for solving the auxiliary differential equation (Musielak 2021). An interesting result is that this Lagrangian gives the law of inertia, which is conservative, despite the fact that it explicitly depends on time. This non-standard Lagrangian was used by Segovia, Vestal, & Musielak (2022) to introduce dissipative forces into the law of inertia and convert it into the second law of dynamics (see also Chapter 5).

Recently, Das & Musielak (2022) considered another NSL for the law of inertia; the form of this Lagrangian was fairly simple:

$$L_{ns}[\dot{x}(t)] = \frac{1}{C\dot{x}(t)},$$
(3.3)

where C is an arbitrary constant. Comparison of Eq. (3.2) to Eq. (3.3) shows the same equation of motion is obtained by the two very different NSLs, with the first one being explicitly time-dependent, and the second one time-independent. Since Newton's law of inertia is the fundamental equation in Galilean relativity, its Galilean invariance must be guaranteed (Landau & Lifshitz 1969). Similarly, the second law of dynamics is also required to be Galilean invariant; however, the latter depends on the form of external force used in the equation

3.1.2 Galilean Invariance

The background space and time of non-relativistic classical mechanics is described by the Galilean metrics $ds_1^2 = dt^2$ and $ds_2^2 = dx^2 + dy^2 + dz^2$, where t is time and x, y and z are Cartesian coordinates associated with an inertial frame of reference (Goldstein et al. 2002; Jose and Salatan 2002). The metrics are invariant with respect to rotations, translations, and boosts, which form the Galilean transformations or the Galilean group of the metric, whose structure is $G = [T(1) \otimes R(3)] \otimes_s [T(3) \otimes B(3)]$; T(1), R(3), T(3) and B(3) are the subgroups of translation in time, rotations in space, translations in space, and boosts, respectively (Levy-Leblond 1963, 1967). The subgroups T(1), T(3) and B(3) are Abelian Lie groups; however, the subgroup B(3) is a non-Abelian Lie group. The direct product is denoted as \otimes , and \otimes_s denotes the semi-direct product.

In Newtonian dynamics, the Galilean transformations induce a gauge transformation, which is called the Galilean gauge (Levy-Leblond 1969). The presence of this gauge guarantees that Newton's law of inertia is invariant with respect to the Galilean transformations, and it also shows that its standard Lagrangian is not (Landau & Lifshitz 1969, Levy-Leblond 1969). As shown by Musielak & Watson (2020a), the Galilean invariance of this Lagrangian can be restored through the addition of a null Lagrangian and its gauge function; more details are given in Chapter 5.

To demonstrate the Galilean invariance of the non-standard Lagrangian given by Eq. (3.2), we follow Segovia, Vestal, & Musielak (2022) and start with this Lagrangian in the following form

$$L_{ns}(\dot{x}, x, t) = \frac{1}{C_1 f^2(t) [f(t)\dot{x} - a_o x + C_2]} , \qquad (3.4)$$

where $f(t) = a_o t + v_o$. After the Galilean transformations, the Lagrangian becomes

$$L'_{ns}[\dot{x}'(t'), x'(t'), t'] = \frac{1}{C'_1 f'^2(t')[f'(t')\dot{x}'(t) - a'_o x'(t') + C'_2 + v'_o V_0]}$$
(3.5)

Galilean invariance of $L_{ns}(\dot{x}, x, t)$ requires that its form is the same as $L'_{ns}[\dot{x}'(t'), x'(t'), t']$. For the original and transformed Lagrangians to be of the same form in the variables x(t) and x'(t'), the following conditions must be satisfied: (i) f'(t') = f(t), which requires that $a'_o = a_o$ and $v'_o = v_o$; further, it is also required that t' = t, as guaranteed by the Galilean transformation; (ii) $C'_1 = C_1$ is satisfied in all intertial frames; and (iii) $C'_2 + v_o V_0 = C_2$ is valid for all Galilean observers.

Since a_o and v_o are the integration constants for the auxiliary equation (Musielak 2021), and C_1 and C_2 are the constants of integration for the law of inertia, these constants are determined by the initial conditions to be specified for a given physical problem to be solved. However, both the auxiliary equation and the law of inertia are Galilean invariant; thus, the solutions to these equations must be also (Galilean invariant) in all inertial frames. The latter is equivalent to the requirement that the specified initial conditions are also the same for all Galilean observers, which validates the above conditions (i) and (ii). The condition (iii) shows that $C'_2 \neq C_2$ and that the constant C'_2 must be modified by adding another constant v_oV_0 to it as compared to C_2 . This addition is known in advance by all Galilean observers, who, by their definition, already agreed on the Galilean invariance.

Thus, the non-standard Lagrangian for the law of inertia given by Eq. (3.2) is Galilean invariant, which distinguishes it from the standard Lagrangian, whose original form is not Galilean invariant (Landau & Lifshitz, 1969), and from the non-standard Lagrangian given by Eq. (3.3), which is not Galilean invariant; for further discussion of this non-standard Lagrangian, see Chapter 5.

3.2 Harmonic Oscillators

In classical mechanics, a harmonic oscillator is a system that undergoes simple harmonic motion about an equilibrium point when displaced from that point. The restoring force for this system depends on the spring constant and linearly on the system's displacement from the equilibrium. Thus, the force can be written as

$$F = -kx, (3.6)$$

where x is the displacement of the center of mass of the oscillator from its equilibrium position, F is the restoring force, and k is the spring constant; this is referred to as Hooke's Law (Goldstein et al., 2002; Jose & Saletan, 2002). Then, the resulting equation of motion is

$$\ddot{x} + \omega_o^2 x = 0, \tag{3.7}$$

where $\omega_o^2 = k/m$ is the natural frequency of the oscillator.

The standard Lagrangian for this simple harmonic oscillator has been known since Lagrange's original work (see Lagrange 1997) and is typically written as

$$L_s(\dot{x}, x) = \frac{1}{2} \left(\dot{x}^2 - \omega_o^2 x^2 \right).$$
(3.8)

Substitution of this Lagrangian into the E-L equation gives Eq. (3.7). However, the non-standard Lagrangian for this system was found by Havas (1957), which is as follows,

$$L_{ns}(\dot{x}, x, t) = \frac{\dot{x}}{\omega_o x} \arctan\left(\frac{\dot{x}}{\omega_o x}\right) - \frac{1}{2}\ln\left(\dot{x}^2 + \omega_o^2 x^2\right).$$
(3.9)

Comparison of $L_s(\dot{x}, x)$ to $L_{ns}(\dot{x}, x, t)$ shows that the form of the latter is more complicated than that of the former. A different form of $L_{ns}(\dot{x}, x, t)$ for the simple harmonic oscillator was derived by Das & Musielak (2022b), who related their non-standard Lagrangian directly to a null Lagrangian and its gauge function (see Chapter 5).

3.3 Bateman Oscillators and the Caldirola-Kanai Lagrangian

Bateman (1931) proposed a model that consists of two uncoupled oscillators, with one oscillator in the model being damped or time-forward while the second one is amplified or time-reversed; this model is now referred to as the Bateman model or the Bateman oscillators (e.g., Vestal & Musielak 2021). The equations of motion for the Bateman model are

$$m\ddot{x}(t) + \gamma\dot{x}(t) + kx(t) = 0$$
, (3.10)

and

$$m\ddot{y}(t) - \gamma \dot{y}(t) + ky(t) = 0$$
, (3.11)

where x(t) and y(t) are coordinate variables, and $\dot{x}(t)$ and $\dot{y}(t)$ are their derivatives with respect to time t. Further, m is mass, γ represents the damping coefficient, and k is the spring constant. The equations of motion given by Eqs (3.10) and (3.11) describe damped and amplified oscillators, respectively. The equations are uncoupled; however, they are related to each other by the transformation $[x(t), y(t), \gamma] \rightarrow$ $[y(t), x(t), -\gamma]$, which allows for the replacement of Eq. (3.10) by Eq. (3.11) and vice versa. Notably, the general solutions of the equations of motion for the Bateman model are well-known and given in terms of elementary functions (e.g., Murphy 2011, Razavy 2017).

As originally shown by Bateman (1931), the equations of motion given by Eqs (3.10) and (3.11) can be derived from the following Lagrangian, which is known in the literature as the Bateman Lagrangian

$$L_B[\dot{x}(t), \dot{y}(t), x(t), y(t)] = m\dot{x}(t)\dot{y}(t) + \frac{\gamma}{2} [x(t)\dot{y}(t) - \dot{x}(t)y(t)] -kx(t)y(t) .$$
(3.12)

By substituting this Lagrangian into the E-L equations for y(t) and x(t), the resulting equations of motion for the damped and amplified oscillators are obtained (e.g., Vujanovic and Jones 1989). The Bateman Lagrangian has also been used to quantize the damped harmonic oscillator (Weiss 2008, Razavy 2017; see also Pais & Uhlenbeck 1950, Feshbach & Tikochinsky 1977, Deguchi et al. 2019, Bagarello et al. 2019, 2020).

Let us follow Vestal & Musielak (2021) and define $b = \pm \gamma/m$ and $c = k/m = \omega_o^2$, where ω_o is the characteristic frequency of the oscillators. Then, we write Eqs (3.10) and (3.11) as one equation of motion

$$\ddot{x}(t) + b\dot{x}(t) + \omega_o^2 x(t) = 0 , \qquad (3.13)$$

with the understanding that the damped and amplified oscillators require b > 0 and b < 0, respectively, and that the variable x(t) describes either damped or amplified oscillator. Let $\hat{D} = d^2/dt^2 + bd/dt + \omega_o^2$ be a linear operator; Eq. (3.13) can then be written in the compact form $\hat{D}x(t) = 0$.

The first-derivative term in Eq. (3.13) can be removed by using the standard transformation of the dependent variable (Kahn 1990). The transformation is

$$x(t) = x_1(t)e^{-bt/2} , (3.14)$$

where $x_1(t)$ is the transformed dependent variable, and it gives

$$\ddot{x}_1(t) + \left(\omega_o^2 - \frac{1}{4}b^2\right)x_1(t) = 0.$$
(3.15)

Despite the fact that the first derivative term is removed, the coefficient b is still present in the transformed equation of motion. However, if b = 0, then $x_1(t) = x(t)$ and Eq. (3.15) becomes the equation of motion for a undamped harmonic oscillator (Goldstein et al., 2002 José & Saletan, 2002).

The standard Lagrangian for this equation is

$$L_s[\dot{x}_1(t), x_1(t)] = \frac{1}{2} \left[(\dot{x}_1(t))^2 - \left(\omega_o^2 - \frac{1}{4} b^2 \right) x_1^2(t) \right] , \qquad (3.16)$$

and its substitution into the E-L equation gives Eq. (3.15).

The derived equation of motion and its standard Lagrangians are expressed in terms of the dynamical variable $x_1(t)$. Let us now use Eq. (3.14) to make the inverse transformation and convert the variable $x_1(t)$ into x(t) in $L_s[\dot{x}_1(t), x_1(t)]$. The resulting Lagrangian is

$$L_s[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t] = L_{CK}[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t] , \qquad (3.17)$$

where

$$L_{CK}[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t] = \frac{1}{2} \left[(\dot{x}(t))^2 - \omega_o^2 x^2(t) \right] e^{bt} , \qquad (3.18)$$

is the Caldirola-Kanai (CK) Lagrangian (Caldirola 1941, Kanai 1948), which is derived here independently; comparison of the CK and Bateman Lagrangian (Eqs (3.18) and (3.12)) shows significant differences in their forms and physical meaning.

The CK Lagrangian, $L_{CK}[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t]$, when substituted into the E-L equation, yields $[\hat{D}x(t)]e^{bt} = 0$, which is consistent with all Helmholtz conditions that are valid for any system of ordinary differential equations (Helmholtz 1887, Vujanovic & Jones 1989). However, with $e^{bt} \neq 0$, the resulting $\hat{D}x(t) = 0$ does obey the first and second
Helmholtz conditions (see Eqs (2.2) and (2.3)), but fails to satisfy the third condition (see Eq. (2.4)). This shows that, after the division by e^{bt} , the equation of motion fails to satisfy the third Helmholtz condition (Musielak, Vestal, et al. 2020).

The role of the CK Lagrangian in deriving the equation of motion for the Bateman oscillators has been questioned in the literature (Ray 1979, Segovia-Chavez 2018) and it was concluded that the CK Lagrangian does not describe the Bateman oscillators but instead a different oscillatory system in which the mass is increasing (b > 0) or decreasing (b < 0) exponentially in time. However, as pointed out recently by Torres del Castillo (2019), the previous work has some conceptual errors that led to incorrect conclusions.

The results presented by Vestal & Musielak (2021) and described in this dissertation show that the total energy and the linear momentum decrease (increase) in time for the damped (amplified) Bateman oscillators, which is consistent with the physical picture of these dynamical systems. The increase (decrease) of the canonical momentum in time does not contradict this picture, but instead it guarantees that the CK Lagrangian can be used to derive the equations of motion for the Bateman oscillators. These results and conclusions are consistent with those previously obtained by and described by Torres del Castillo (2019).

Having obtained and discussed the standard (CK) Lagrangian for the Bateman oscillators, the non-standard Lagrangian for these dynamical systems will now be presented. As already shown in Section 3.2, the non-standard Lagrangian for an undamped harmonic oscillator was found by Havas (1957) (see Eq. 3.9). Let us now modify Havas' non-standard Lagrangian so that it accounts for damping. This modification requires that we multiply the Lagrangian by the exponential term e^{bt} , as was done for the CK Lagrangian, and the result is

$$L_{ns}(\dot{x}, x, t) = \left[\frac{\dot{x}}{\omega_o x} \arctan\left(\frac{\dot{x}}{\omega_o x}\right) - \frac{1}{2}\ln\left(\dot{x}^2 + \omega_o^2 x^2\right)\right] e^{bt}.$$
 (3.19)

Comparison of this non-standard Lagrangian to the standard (CK) Lagrangian shows that the former is more complicated than the latter. Further, the fact that there are also different forms of non-standard Lagrangians for the Bateman oscillators has been recently demonstrated by Das & Musielak (2023).

3.4 Special Functions of Mathematical Physics

Special functions (SFs) are of key interest in mathematical physics as they are solutions of second-order ordinary differential equations (ODEs). In this way, they play important roles in both classical and quantum physics. Typically, ODEs whose solutions are special functions are obtained by using the method of separation of variables in hyperbolic, parabolic, and elliptic partial differential equations (PDEs) (e.g., Cantrell, 2000; Bayin, 2006; Murphy, 2011). Another (lesser known) method is based on Lie groups, whose irreducible representations (irreps) are used to find the SFs and their corresponding ODEs (e.g., Miller 1968, Nikiforov & Uvarov 1988, Cantrell 2000, Mathai & Haubold 2008). The Lagrangian formalism for the ODEs with SFs solutions was established by Musielak et al. (2020). In this section, some key results pertaining to standard and non-standard Lagrangians from this work will be presented.

To introduce ODEs with SF solutions, let us first change the notation used in the previous sections in this chapter, where dynamical systems were considered; xwas used as their dependent variable, and t was the independent variable. Since SFs are solutions to ODEs describing different physical and mathematical systems, which may or may not be dynamical ones, in the notation used in this section, the dependent variable is y and x is the independent variable. One of the justifications for this choice is the fact that this notation is commonly used in applied mathematics, physics, and engineering. In the following, the presented standard and non-standard Lagrangians were originally obtained by Musielak et al. (2020), and they are presented here in preparation for a more detailed discussion of null Lagrangians and their gauge functions derived for the ODEs with SF solutions by Dange, Vestal, & Musielak (2021) - see Chapter 5.

Let $\hat{D} = d^2/dx^2 + B(x)d/dx + C(x)$ be a linear operator with B(x) and C(x)being ordinary (with the maps $B : \mathcal{R} \to \mathcal{R}$ and $C : \mathcal{R} \to \mathcal{R}$, with \mathcal{R} denoting the real numbers) and smooth functions with at least two continuous derivatives (\mathcal{C}^2) defined either over a restricted interval (a, b) or an infinite interval $(-\infty, \infty)$, depending on the form of the ODE with SF solutions. Now, let $\hat{D}y(x) = 0$ be a linear secondorder ODE with non-constant coefficients. The functions B(x) and C(x) can then be selected such that the resulting equations represent all the ODEs whose solutions are SFs. In the following, the general forms of constructed standard and non-standard Lagrangians are presented and then used to find such Lagrangians for the Bessel, Legendre, and Hermite equations.

The constructed standard Lagrangians, denoted here as L_s , are of the form:

$$L_s[y'(x), y(x), x] = G_s[y'(x), y(x), x] E_s(x) , \qquad (3.20)$$

where

$$G_s[y'(x), y(x), x] = \frac{1}{2} \left[(y'(x))^2 - C(x)y^2(x) \right] , \qquad (3.21)$$

and $E_s(x) = \exp\left[\int^x B(\tilde{x})d\tilde{x}\right]$. Since $E_s(x)$ is only a function of one independent variable, x, the lower limit must be an arbitrary constant, which can be omitted because such constant has no effect on the Lagrangian formulation. Note that in

a special case of B(x) = constant, $L_s[y'(x), y(x), x]$ becomes the Caldirola–Kanai Lagrangian (see Section 3.3, and also Vestal & Musielak 2021).

To construct non-standard Lagrangians for the ODEs with the SFs solutions, Dange, Vestal, & Musielak (2021) considered the form of such Lagrangian as given by Eq. (2.5) and wrote it as $L_{ns}[y'(x), y(x), x] = 1/[f(x)y'(x) + g(x)y(x)]$, where the functions f(x) and g(x) are to be determined for a given ODE. In general, the non-standard Lagrangian is

$$L_{ns}[y'(x), y(x), x] = H_{ns}[y'(x), y(x), x] \ E_{ns}(x) \ , \tag{3.22}$$

where

$$H_{ns}[y'(x), y(x), x] = \frac{1}{[y'(x)\bar{v}(x) - y(x)\bar{v}'(x)] \ \bar{v}^2(x)}$$
(3.23)

and $E_{ns}(x) = \exp\left[-2\int^x B(\tilde{x})d\tilde{x}\right]$, with the necessary auxiliary condition $\hat{D}\bar{v}(x) = 0$.

Let us now apply the above results to the Bessel, Legendre, and Hermite equations, for which both standard and non-standard Lagrangians are constructed. The standard Lagrangians are constructed using Eqs (3.20) and (3.21), and for the nonstandard Lagrangians Eqs (3.22) and (3.23) are used.

Bessel equation

Let us write the Bessel equation in the following general form

$$y''(x) + \frac{\alpha}{x}y'(x) + \beta\left(1 + \gamma\frac{\mu^2}{x^2}\right)y(x) = 0 , \qquad (3.24)$$

where $B(x) = \alpha/x$ and $C(x) = \beta(1 + \gamma \mu^2/x^2)$. In addition, α , β , γ , and μ are constants, and their specific values determine the four different types of Bessel equations (see Table 3.1).

Then, the standard and non-standard Lagrangians for Eq. (3.24) are

$$L_s[y'(x), y(x), x] = \frac{1}{2} \left[\left(y'(x) \right)^2 - \beta \left(1 + \gamma \frac{\mu^2}{x^2} \right) y^2(x) \right] x^{\alpha} , \qquad (3.25)$$

and

$$L_{ns}[y'(x), y(x), x] = H_{ns}[y'(x), y(x), x] \ x^{-2\alpha} , \qquad (3.26)$$

where $H_{ns}[y'(x), y(x), x]$ is given by Eq. (3.23),

The auxiliary condition that must supplement $L_{ns}[y'(x), y(x), x]$ is given by

$$\bar{v}''(x) + \frac{\alpha}{x}\bar{v}'(x) = -\beta\left(1 + \gamma\frac{\mu^2}{x^2}\right)\bar{v}(x) , \qquad (3.27)$$

and this condition is required in order to derive the original Bessel equation given by Eq. (3.24) from the E-L equation.

Legendre Equations

There are the regular and associated Legendre equations, and the latter can be written as

$$y''(x) - \frac{2x}{(1-x^2)}y'(x) + \left[\frac{l(l+1)}{(1-x^2)} - \frac{m^2}{(1-x^2)^2}\right]y(x) = 0 , \qquad (3.28)$$

where l and m are constants, and when m = 0 the above equation becomes the regular Legendre equation. Then, the standard and non-standard Lagrangians are

$$L_{s}[y'(x), y(x), x] = \frac{1}{2} [y'(x)]^{2} (1 - x^{2})$$
$$- \left[\frac{l(l+1)}{(1-x^{2})} - \frac{m^{2}}{(1-x^{2})^{2}}\right] y^{2}(x)(1-x^{2}) , \qquad (3.29)$$

$$L_{ns}[y'(x), y(x), x] = H_{ns}[y'(x), y(x), x] (1 - x^2)^{-2} , \qquad (3.30)$$

where $H_{ns}[y'(x), y(x), x]$ is given by Eq. (3.24).

Hermite Equation

The Hermite equation can be written as

$$y''(x) - xy'(x) + ny(x) = 0 , \qquad (3.31)$$

where n is any integer. Comparing this equation to $\hat{D}y(x) = 0$, we find B(x) = -xand C(x) = n. The range of validity of the Hermite equation is $x \in (0, \infty)$. The explicit forms of the standard and non-standard Lagrangians for the Hermite equation are

$$L_s[y'(x), y(x), x] = \frac{1}{2} \left[(y'(x))^2 - ny^2(x) \right] e^{-x^2/2} , \qquad (3.32)$$

$$L_{ns}[y'(x), y(x), x] = H_{ns}[y'(x), y(x), x]e^{x^2} , \qquad (3.33)$$

where $H_{ns}[y'(x), y(x), x]$ is given by Eq. (3.24). The auxiliary condition given by

$$\bar{v}''(x) + x\bar{v}'(x) = -n\bar{v}(x)$$
, (3.34)

must also be used to derive the original equation from the non-standard Lagrangian.

The above results presented here by following Musielak et al. (2020) have been significantly extended by Dange, Vestal, & Musielak (2021), who constructed null Lagrangians and their gauge functions for ODEs with SF solutions (see Chapter 4).

3.5 Biological Applications

Another compelling application of Lagrangians has been to biological systems. Lagrangians were first applied in the field of theoretical biology by Kerner (1964). Kerner noted that many systems in biology, such as population kinetics in ecological theory, are given in terms of first-order ODEs. Later, Paine (1982) studied Lagrangians for similar sets of ODEs following the original work of Helmholtz (1887). The first specific applications of the Lagrangian formalism to population dynamics were done by Trubatch & Franco (1974), who obtained in an ad hoc manner Lagrangians for the population dynamics models such as the Lotka-Volterra (Lotka, 1925; Volterra, 1926), Verhulst (1838), Gompertz (1825), and Host-Parasite (Collins et al., 1956) models. The Lagrangians found for the models were formally derived by Nucci & Tamizhmani (2012), who used the method based on the Jacobi Last Multiplier (Nucci & Leach 2007). The derived Lagrangians were non-standard and therefore treated as generating functions whose substitution into the E-L equation gave the evolution equations for the models.

Among a large variety of biological systems, population dynamics plays a special role as it is the key to understanding the relative importance of the competition for resources and predation in complex communities, and for preserving biodiversity (Turchin, 2003a,b; Oro, 2013). Population dynamics models that describe interacting species are typically expressed by ODEs, which are first-order, coupled, damped, and nonlinear (Turchin, 2003a,b). Despite the presence of damping and nonlinearities in such models, no clear demonstration of the onset of chaos has yet been shown (e.g., Rai & Upadhyay, 2004). However, some studies have suggested that insect population dynamics can undergo transitions between stable and chaotic phases for models near a transition point between order and chaos (e.g., Figueroa et al., 2020).

In recent work (Pham & Musielak, 2023a), the standard Lagrangians were constructed for the above listed population dynamics models with one additional model included; this is the SIR model (Kermack & McKendrick, 1927) and it describes the spread of a disease in a population. In the constructed standard Lagrangians, kinetic energy-like terms and potential energy-like terms were identified and their roles in population dynamics were discussed. It was also suggested that the identification of these energy-like terms may become an efficient way of comparing biological models. Further, it was found that force-like terms appear for some of these models. For the models of population dynamics for interacting species, an oscillator-like behavior, with respect to a given system's equilibrium, was observed. In the following, a brief description of the results obtained by Pham & Musielak (2023a) is presented.

Typical equations of motion of population dynamics models can be written in the following form

$$\ddot{x} + \alpha(x)\dot{x}^2 + \gamma(x)x = F(x,\dot{x}), \qquad (3.35)$$

where x(t) represents the population of species and the force-like term is given by

$$F(x, \dot{x}) = C_0 - \beta(x)\dot{x},$$
 (3.36)

with C_0 being a constant. Note that $F(x, \dot{x})$ has the dissipative term $\beta(x)\dot{x}$, which is by itself a null Lagrangian (see Chapter 4).

According to the method developed by Pham & Musielak (2023a), the constructed standard Lagrangian can be written as

$$L(\dot{x}, x) = \frac{1}{2} \dot{x}^2 e^{2I_{\alpha}(x)} - \int^x \tilde{x} \gamma(\tilde{x}) e^{2I_{\alpha}(\tilde{x})} d\tilde{x} , \qquad (3.37)$$

where

$$I_{\alpha}(x) = \int^{x} \alpha(\tilde{x}) d\tilde{x} , \qquad (3.38)$$

and $\hat{EL}[L(\dot{x},x)] = F(\dot{x},x)e^{2I_{\alpha}(x)}$ or more explicitly

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left(\frac{\partial L}{\partial \dot{x}}\right) - \frac{\partial L}{\partial x} = F(\dot{x}, x)e^{2I_{\alpha}(x)} .$$
(3.39)

The presence of the term $F(\dot{x}, x)e^{2I_{\alpha}(x)}$ is justified by the fact that this term does not arise from any potential (e.g., Goldstein et al., 2002). The presented method was used by Pham & Musielak (2023a) to construct standard Lagrangians for the following population dynamics systems: the Lotka-Volterra, Verhulst, Gompertz, Host-Parasite, and SIR models.

The above work to construct the standard Lagrangians for the population dynamics models was followed by Pham & Musielak (2023b), who developed another method to construct non-standard Lagrangians. The method requires that the equations of motion for the population dynamics models (see Eq. 3.35) is written as

$$\ddot{x} + \alpha(x)\dot{x}^2 = F_{dis}(\dot{x}, x) ,$$
 (3.40)

where

$$F_{dis}(\dot{x}, x) = F(x) - \beta(x)\dot{x} - \gamma(x)x , \qquad (3.41)$$

becomes a dissipative force because of its dependence on $\dot{x}(t)$. Then, the required E-L equation can be written as

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left(\frac{\partial L}{\partial \dot{x}}\right) - \frac{\partial L}{\partial x} = F_{dis}(\dot{x}, x)e^{2I_{\alpha}(x)} , \qquad (3.42)$$

where the force on the RHS of this equation is known as the Rayleigh force (Goldstein et al. 2002). The form of the non-standard Lagrangians that must be used to obtain the equation of motion (see Eq. 3.40) is given by Eq. (2.6), and after evaluating the arbitrary functions in this equation, the final Lagrangian becomes

$$L_{ns}(\dot{x}, x) = \frac{1}{\dot{x}e^{I_{\alpha}(x)} + C_o} , \qquad (3.43)$$

where C_o is an arbitrary constant.

As demonstrated by Pham & Musielak (2023b), the obtained non-standard Lagrangian has no restrictions or limitations and it exists for any differentiable coefficient $\alpha(x)$ regardless of the forms of $\beta(x)$ and $\gamma(x)$. Therefore, $L_{ns}(\dot{x}, x)$ was used to derive non-standard Lagrangians for the Lotka-Volterra, Verhulst, Gompertz, Host-Parasite, and SIR population dynamics models. An interesting result obtained by Pham & Musielak (2023b) is that the derived non-standard Lagrangians are directly related to null Lagrangians and their gauge function; thus, the first null Lagrangians and gauge functions for the considered models were also derived.

3.6 Summary

While standard Lagrangians have been utilized at length for their ability to efficiently and effectively describe physical systems, non-standard Lagrangians, contrastingly, have not. In this chapter, some standard and non-standard Lagrangians of importance in physics were introduced, and the differences and similarities between these two families of Lagrangians were highlighted. Notably, non-standard Lagrangians do not have distinguishable kinetic and potential energy terms; this attribute differs from their standard Lagrangian counterparts, and in this chapter I discussed how also the non-standard Lagrangian form of the law of inertia is Galilean invariant, which is not true for the standard Lagrangian formulation. Non-standard Lagrangians for harmonic oscillators were then discussed, along with work in this area relevant to non-standard Lagrangians. Our work investigating the Bateman model and how it relates to the CK Lagrangian was also discussed. Special functions of key importance for systems in physics are presented as they will be further discussed in Chapter 4. Lastly, a brief history of the application of Lagrangians to the field of theoretical biology is given; special attention is given to recent work in which standard and non-standard Lagrangians are used for models of population dynamics.

The law of inertia was presented along with its standard Lagrangian form and an equivalent non-standard Lagrangian form. Another system of key interest in physics, the harmonic oscillator, was discussed; a dissipative system of oscillators was also introduced. Some applications of the Bessel, Hermite, and Legendre equations were given. Lastly, biological applications of standard and non-standard Lagrangians were described.

Table 3.1. Values of the constants α , β , γ , and μ in Equation (3.24) corresponding to the four types of Bessel equations.

Bessel Equations	${oldsymbol lpha}$	$oldsymbol{eta}$	γ	μ
Regular	1	1	-1	real or integer
Modified	1	-1	1	real or integer
Spherical	2	1	-1	$\mu^2 = l(l+1)$
Modified spherical	2	-1	1	$\mu^2 = l(l+1)$

CHAPTER 4

Standard Null Lagrangians and their Novel Roles in Dynamics

In this chapter, my research involving null Lagrangians is introduced. I walk through the steps for introducing novel gauge functions (GFs) from null Lagrangians to non-relativistic classical mechanics, and how they are used to define forces. The results presented are from multiple projects investigating null Lagrangians and gauges in which I have had a significant role; they show that gauge functions directly affect the energy function and that they allow for the conversion of an undriven physical system into a driven one, which is one of the main focuses of this dissertation. This is a novel phenomenon in dynamics that resembles the role of gauges in quantum field theory. The discussion contained in this chapter is limited to standard null Lagrangians; the chapter to follow will address non-standard null Lagrangians and extend the formalism developed herein.

The layout is as follows: In 4.1, I introduce two methods to construct standard null Lagrangians (SNLs) and I comment on why null Lagrangians are so compelling for research in physics. The connection between NLs and forces is then explored in section 4.2. An application of null Lagrangians to oscillators is presented in section 4.3; gauge functions corresponding to NLs are found and forces are introduced for the harmonic oscillator, demonstrating how the formula may be applied to a simple system and allowing for the conversion of this conservative, undriven system to a driven one. In section 4.4, it is shown also how gauge functions can be used to convert the undriven Bateman oscillators into driven ones; this result is important and novel in that the formalism is extended here to dissipative systems. In section 4.5, a compelling direct link between gauge functions and forces is presented, and I illustrate the connection between these as well as to null Lagrangians. Then, in section 4.6, a new and promising area of NL research is presented. The formalism developed in section 4.5 (general NLs) is used and a new way and is shown to reproduce nonlinearities, extending the list of applications of this method beyond the introduction of forces. This is followed in section 4.7 by a discussion of null Lagrangians for some ODEs with special function (SF) solutions that are of key interest in physics. This project further illustrates the vast range of applications of NLs and GFs by this time focusing on SFs. A short summary is presented at the close of the chapter.

4.1 Methods to Construct Standard Null Lagrangians

Multiple methods to construct NLs have been described in the literature (e.g., Krupka et al., 2010; Olver, 2022; Musielak & Watson, 2020a,b; Vestal & Musielak, 2021; 2023). In this section, I discuss two methods of constructing null Lagrangians and their corresponding gauges. The first method restricts the orders of the dependent and independent variables, yielding uncomplicated NL terms that can be directly added to the Lagrangian of a given system, and its development was presented in several papers (e.g., Musielak & Vestal et al., 2020; Vestal & Musielak 2021; Dange, Vestal, & Musielak 2021). The second method was introduced more recently by Vestal & Musielak (2023). This alternate method, which successfully reproduces NLs, gauge terms, and forces that match those previously published, was developed with the aim of creating a generalized framework for finding all NLs and force terms for a given system.

4.1.1 First Method

In this first method, NLs and their gauge functions are found for second-order ordinary differential equations (ODEs) in one dimension. The constructed NLs are of lower or comparable orders to the standard Lagrangian for a given equation and depend on arbitrary constant coefficients, which are replaced here with arbitrary functions of the independent variable. This is done for a non-dissipative oscillator system, and the NLs developed are further physically investigated in the context of this system in Musielak & Vestal et al. (2020).

For the simple oscillators, the independent variable t is time and the dependent variable $\mathbf{x}(t)$ is a displacement. Let $\hat{D} = d^2/dt^2 + c$ be an linear differential operator, with c being a constant whose value may change from one dynamical system to another, and let Q be a set of all ODEs of the form $\hat{D}x(t) = 0$; depending on the physical meaning of $\mathbf{x}(t)$ and c, the ODEs of Q may describe different linear oscillators, including linear pendulums. General solutions of these ODEs are well-known and can be written as $x(t) = c_1 x_1(t) + c_2 x_2(t)$, where c_1 and c_2 are integration constants, and $x_1(t)$ and $x_2(t)$ are the solutions given in terms of the elementary functions (Murphy 2011; Teschl 2012). The Lagrangian formalism is established for the ODEs of Q.

First, let $L_m[\dot{x}(t), x(t)]$ be a mixed Lagrangian of dependent and independent variables given by

$$L_m[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t] = C_1 \dot{x}(t) x(t) + C_2 \dot{x}(t) t + C_3 x(t) t , \qquad (4.1)$$

and $L_f[\dot{x}(t), x(t)]$ be a Lagrangian of the single dependent variable written as

$$L_f[\dot{x}(t), x(t)] = C_4 \dot{x}(t) + C_5 x(t) + C_6 , \qquad (4.2)$$

where C_1 , C_2 , C_3 , C_4 , C_5 and C_6 are arbitrary constants.

We will use the standard Lagrangian

$$L_s[\dot{x}(t), x(t)] = \frac{1}{2} \left[\alpha \left(\dot{x}(t) \right)^2 + \beta x^2(t) \right] , \qquad (4.3)$$

where the coefficients α and β are either constants or functions of time.

Because x(t) is a displacement of harmonic oscillators and t is time, the constants must have different physical dimensions for the dimensions of $L_m[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t]$ and $L_f[\dot{x}(t), x(t)]$ to be consistent with those of $L_s[\dot{x}(t), x(t)]$.

We define \hat{EL} to be the E-L equation operator and take $\hat{EL}(L_m + L_f) = 0$. $L_n[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t] = L_m[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t] + L_f[\dot{x}(t), x(t)]$ can then become a null Lagrangian, which requires $C_3 = 0$ and $C_5 = C_2$. Then, the null Lagrangian can be written as

$$L_n[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t] = \sum_{i=1}^4 L_{ni}[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t] , \qquad (4.4)$$

where i = 1, 2, 3 and 4, and the partial NLs are given by

$$L_{n1}[\dot{x}(t), x(t)] = C_1 \dot{x}(t) x(t), \qquad (4.5)$$

$$L_{n2}[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t] = C_2[\dot{x}(t)t + x(t)], \qquad (4.6)$$

$$L_{n3}[\dot{x}(t)] = C_4 \dot{x}(t) \tag{4.7}$$

and

$$L_{n4} = C_6$$
 (4.8)

Of these, $L_{n2}[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t]$ is the only partial null Lagrangian that depends explicitly on t. Note that these partial null Lagrangians are constructed to lowest orders of the dynamic variable x(t).

The term *partial null Lagrangian* is used here to refer to individual null Lagrangians that are added together to form the null Lagrangian of interest. Each of these terms alone (equations 4.4-4.8) would also be a null Lagrangian. Similarly, each partial null Lagrangian has a corresponding partial gauge function.

We may write the gauge function, $\Phi_p(t)$, for L_n by using the definition from Chapter 2,

$$\Phi_p(t) = \sum_{i=1}^4 \phi_{pi}(t) , \qquad (4.9)$$

where the partial gauge functions $\phi_{pi}(t)$ correspond the partial null Lagrangians $L_{ni}[\dot{x}(t), x(t)]$, and they are defined as $\phi_{p1}(t) = C_1 x^2(t)/2$, $\phi_{p2}(t) = C_2 x(t)t$, $\phi_{p3}(t) = C_4 x(t)$ and $\phi_{p4}(t) = C_6 t$.

We consider the ODEs of \mathcal{Q} and write them in their explicit form

$$\ddot{x}(t) + cx(t) = 0 , \qquad (4.10)$$

where c may be any real number. Let us define the following primary Lagrangian

$$L_p[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t] = L_{ps}[\dot{x}(t), x(t)] + L_{pn}[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t] , \qquad (4.11)$$

where the primary standard Lagrangian (with $\alpha = 1$ and $\beta = -c$ in Eq. 4.3) is given by

$$L_{ps}[\dot{x}(t), x(t)] = \frac{1}{2} \left[\left(\dot{x}(t) \right)^2 - cx^2(t) \right] , \qquad (4.12)$$

and the primary null Lagrangian $L_{pn}[\dot{x}(t), x(t)]$ is equal to $L_n[\dot{x}(t), x(t)]$ (see Eq. 4.4) with the same partial NLs. In addition, the primary gauge function $\Phi_p(t)$ is given by Eq. (4.9) with the same partial gauge functions.

The above results can be generalized by writing the Lagrangian given by Eq. (4.3) in the following form

$$L_s[\dot{x}(t), x(t)] = \frac{1}{2} \left[\alpha(t) \left(\dot{x}(t) \right)^2 + \beta(t) x^2(t) \right] , \qquad (4.13)$$

where $\alpha(t)$ and $\beta(t)$ are continuous and differentiable functions. Substituting this Lagrangian into the E-L equation, we find $\alpha(t) = C_o$ and $\beta(t) = -C_o c$, where C_o is an intergration constant. Then, the general standard Lagrangian can be written as

$$L_{gs}[\dot{x}(t), x(t)] = \frac{1}{2}C_o\left[\left(\dot{x}(t)\right)^2 - cx^2(t)\right]$$
 (4.14)

This Lagrangian can be reduced to the primary standard Lagrangian if $C_o = 1$ and it can also be used to define the following general Lagrangian

$$L_g[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t] = L_{gs}[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t] + L_{gn}[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t] , \qquad (4.15)$$

where the general null Lagrangian is

$$L_{gn}[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t] = \sum_{i=1}^{4} L_{gni}[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t] , \qquad (4.16)$$

with $\hat{EL}(L_{gn}) = 0$ and $L_{gni}[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t]$ being its partial components. To determine the partial null Lagrangians, we generalize the primary gauge functions $\phi_{pi}(t)$ given below Eq. (4.9) by replacing their constant coefficients by functions of the independent variable t. Denoting the general gauge functions as $\phi_{gi}(t)$, we obtain

$$\phi_{g1}(t) = \frac{1}{2} f_1(t) x^2(t) , \qquad (4.17)$$

$$\phi_{g2}(t) = f_2(t)x(t)t , \qquad (4.18)$$

$$\phi_{g3}(t) = f_4(t)x(t) , \qquad (4.19)$$

and

$$\phi_{g4}(t) = f_6(t)t , \qquad (4.20)$$

where $f_1(t)$, $f_2(t)$, $f_4(t)$ and $f_6(t)$ are continuous and differentiable functions to be determined.

Then, we take the total derivatives of these partial gauge functions and obtain the following partial Lagrangians

$$L_{gn1}[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t] = \left[f_1(t)\dot{x}(t) + \frac{1}{2}\dot{f}_1(t)x(t)\right]x(t) , \qquad (4.21)$$

$$L_{gn2}[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t] = \left[\left(f_2(t)\dot{x}(t) + \dot{f}_2(t)x(t) \right) t + f_2(t)x \right] , \qquad (4.22)$$

$$L_{gn3}[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t] = \left[f_4(t)\dot{x}(t) + \dot{f}_4(t)x(t) \right] , \qquad (4.23)$$

and

$$L_{gn4}[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t] = \left[\dot{f}_6(t)t + f_6(t)\right] , \qquad (4.24)$$

which can be added together to obtain the general null Lagrangian (see Eq. 4.16). This Lagrangian depends on four functions that must be continuous and differentiable but are otherwise arbitrary. Specification of the initial conditions for physical problems would set up constraints on these functions, however, in this section the functions are kept arbitrary for reasons explained in section 4. The general null Lagrangian reduces to the primary null Lagrangian when $f_1(t) = C_1$, $f_2(t) = C_2$, $f_4(t) = C_4$ and f_6

We derived the primary and general SLs and NLs for the ODEs of Q. Most obtained SLs are already known and they are generated as a byproduct of our procedure of deriving the NLs, which are new for the considered equations. For each null Lagrangian, we found its corresponding gauge function. The general Lagrangians depend on four functions that must be continuous and differentiable, and must satisfy initial conditions of a specific physical problem. If the functions are assumed to be constants, the primary NLs are obtained. Since the functions are arbitrary, many different NLs can be obtained by choosing different forms of these functions.

4.1.2 Second Method

The second method, which is capable of reproducing the NLs found above, will now be introduced. Further results from this method will be presented later in the Chapter, in Table 4.1. In investigating this generalized approach to building NLs staring from their gauges (Φ), rather than starting from a NL and finding its corresponding gauge after, a clear link between the form of a given NL and the form of the force-like term it produces was established.

This dissertation draws a clear line from the gauge term to its corresponding NL, and then to the resulting energy function and finally to the resulting force-like term. This reveals a fundamental connection underlying dynamical systems and sheds more light on the impact and significance of NLs for physical systems. Further, it was shown that this formalism can reproduce nonlinear terms by Vestal & Musielak (2023), which is discussed later in the Chapter.

If L_n is a NL and \hat{EL} is the Euler-Lagrange operator, then $\hat{EL}(L_n) = 0$, as required by the definition of the NLs. Such NLs may depend on both the dependent and independent variables, so they can be written as $L_n(\dot{x}, x, t)$. These NLs can be added to the standard Lagragian, $L_s(\dot{x}, x, t)$, without having any effect on the resulting equation of motion. Thus, the total Lagrangian, L_{tot} , can be written as

$$L_{tot}(\dot{x}, x, t) = L_s(\dot{x}, x, t) + L_n(\dot{x}, x, t) , \qquad (4.25)$$

where $L_n(\dot{x}, x, t)$ is the NL that can be obtained by calculating the total derivative of any scalar and differentiable function (Olver 1993; Olver & Sivaloganathan 1989; Crampin & Saunders 2005; Vitolo 1999), which is called the gauge function and denoted as $\Phi(x,t)$, with x = x(t). Thus, the general NL can be written using Eq. (2.9). Substitution of this NL into the E-L equation shows that the gauge function can be of any form as long as it has the properties specified above. Despite the fact that the presence of NLs does not change the form of the resulting equation of motion, it has been shown that the NLs may be used to restore Galilean invariance of standard Lagrangians (eg. Levy-Leblond 1969; Musielak & Watson 2020; Segovia, Vestal, & Musielak 2022), and to independently introduce forces to classical mechanics by some, but not all, NLs by Musielak & Vestal et al. (2020), and by Vestal & Musielak (2023). Therefore, it is desired to construct general NLs and identify among them those NLs that can be used to introduce forces; it must be pointed out that the NLs for second-order ODEs are known (eg. Olver, 1993; Olver and Sivaloganathan, 1989; Crampin & Saunders, 2005; Vitolo, 1999) and that the NLs constructed using this method are consistent with those previously obtained.

The previous work on defining forces done by Musielak & Vestal et al. (2020), and Vestal & Musielak (2023), is now extended to specific forces that frequently appear in dynamics as well as to nonlinearities that are present in some well-known dynamical systems. For the considered forces and nonlinearities, corresponding gauge functions are given. These gauge functions can be used to obtain the corresponding NLs and to convert undriven and linear dynamical systems into the driven and nonlinear systems. In the following, the procedure that allows for this conversion, and uses the Legendre transform to generate new energy terms that are then added to the standard Lagrangian of a given dynamical system, is described, and is then applied to some well-known oscillators in classical dynamics.

Let us generalize the gauge function $\Phi_1(x,t) = c_1 x t$ and consider

$$\Phi_{g1}(x,t) = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} C_{m,n} x^m t^n , \qquad (4.26)$$

where $C_{m,n}$ are arbitrary real constants, and m and n are positive integers. Since, for dynamical systems, the variables t and x represent time and displacement, respectively, both variables have dimensions. It is therefore required that the constants $C_{m,n}$ have different dimensions to guarantee that each term in the expansion has the same physical units as the gauge function $[kg m^2/s]$. Thus, the dimensions of $C_{1,1} = c_1$ are $[kg m/s^2]$, which are of the dimensions of force (see example at the end of Section 2.2).

The general gauge function $\Phi_{g1}(x,t)$ gives the following NL

$$L_{ng1}(\dot{x}, x, t) = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} C_{m,n} \left[m \dot{x} t + nx \right] x^{m-1} t^{n-1} , \qquad (4.27)$$

where each term of this summation is also a NL.

To further generalize the gauge function $\Phi_{g1}(x,t)$, we consider

$$\Phi_{g2}(x,t) = \sum_{m=1} c_m x^m f_m(t) , \qquad (4.28)$$

where c_m are arbitrary constants of real values and different dimensions, and m and n are positive integers. In addition, $f_m(t)$ are arbitrary functions that are required to be ordinary $(f_m : \mathcal{R} \to \mathcal{R})$ and smooth (\mathcal{C}^{∞}) . The resulting general NL is

$$L_{ng2}(\dot{x}, x, t) = \sum_{m=1} \left[m f_m(t) \dot{x}(t) + \dot{f}_m(t) x \right] c_m x^{m-1} , \qquad (4.29)$$

Once again, we further generalize $\Phi_{g2}(x,t)$ to

$$\Phi_{g3}(x,t) = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} c_{m,n} f_m(t) g_n(x) , \qquad (4.30)$$

where $g_n(x)$ are arbitrary functions that are required to be ordinary $(g_n : \mathcal{R} \to \mathcal{R})$ and smooth (\mathcal{C}^{∞}) . The gauge function gives the following general NL

$$L_{ng3}(\dot{x}, x, t) = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} c_{m,n} \left[\dot{f}_m(t) g_n(x) + \dot{x}(t) f_m(t) g'_n(x) \right] .$$
(4.31)

In section 4.2, these general forms for NLs and their corresponding gauge terms are discussed in the context of their implications for systems in physics.

We have now walked through how to construct general gauge functions and their corresponding NLs, which will be used to convert undriven dynamical systems into the driven ones in much of the remainder of the chapter. Later, in section 4.6, this approach will also be used by Vestal & Musielak (2023) to convert linear systems into the nonlinear ones. The main objective of this section was to present the two methods of constructing gauge functions and their corresponding NLs for second-order ordinary differential equations (ODEs) in one dimension. In special cases, the obtained NLs reduce to those found by Musielak et al. (2020) and Musielak & Vestal et al. (2020).

4.2 Gauge Functions and Forces in Dynamics

The main purpose of the NLs constructed in 4.1 is to use them to introduce forces and nonlinearities into otherwise undriven and linear dynamical systems, which has not previously been done. This is achieved by using the Legendre transform to generate new energy terms and adding them to the standard Lagrangian of a dynamical system, which modifies the original system; this is the main novelty of our approach, as described. We also explore physical effects of such modifications and demonstrate that forces and nonlinearities can be introduced to dynamical systems in this way. The presented gauge functions for a variety of known dynamical systems are our main results as these functions can be used to determine the corresponding forces and nonlinearities that are introduced into otherwise undriven and linear dynamical systems.

Let us consider a conservative dynamical system, whose equation of motion is a second-order differential equation that can be obtained from the standard Lagrangian, $L_s(\dot{x}, x)$, that does not depend explicitly on time. However, let us assume that a NL depends explicitly on time. Then, the energy function must be calculated (e.g., Goldstein et al., 2002; José & Saletan, 2002), and, for the total Lagrangian, $L_{tot}(\dot{x}, x, t) = L_s[\dot{x}, x] + L_n(\dot{x}, x, t)$, the energy function is given by

$$E_{tot}(\dot{x}, x, t) = \dot{x} \frac{\partial (L_s + L_n)}{\partial \dot{x}} - (L_s + L_n) = E_s(\dot{x}, x) + E_n(x, t) .$$
(4.32)

where $E_s(\dot{x}, x)$ represents the total energy of the system, which is equal to its Hamiltonian that can be used to derive the equation of motion from the Hamilton equations (Goldstein et al., 2002; José & Saletan, 2002). The Legendre transformation relates the Lagrangian and Hamiltonian formulations (Abraham & Marsden, 2008), and leads to the same Hamilton equations independently from the null Lagrangian that is added to the standard Lagrangian. The necessary condition is $dE_{tot}/dt = -[\partial(L_s + L_n)/\partial t]$, which plays the same role as the E-L equation does for $L_s(\dot{x})$ (e.g., Goldstein et al., 2002; José & Saletan, 2002; Abraham & Marsden, 2008).

In addition, $E_n(x,t)$ becomes

$$E_n(x,t) = -\frac{\partial\Phi}{\partial t} , \qquad (4.33)$$

which shows that Φ must depend explicitly on t for $E_n(x,t) \neq 0$. There are known NLs that do not depend explicitly on t but either only on \dot{x} or on both x and \dot{x} including Olver (1993), Olver & Sivaloganathan (1989), and Crampin & Saunders (2005), as all these NLs give $E_n(x) = 0$. In the following we only consider the NLs that depend explicitly on t.

Comparison of Eq. (4.33) to Eq. (4.32) shows that $E_n(x,t)$ and $L_n(\dot{x}, x, t)$ have one common term, and that this term becomes a NL if, and only if, $\Phi \neq \Phi(x)$ and $\Phi = \Phi(t)$, which means that

$$\frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial t} = \frac{d\Phi}{dt} \ . \tag{4.34}$$

However, when $\Phi = \Phi(x, t)$, the total derivative of this gauge function gives a NL, but the resulting $E_n(x, t)$ is not a NL. This is an interesting case as this extra energy term can now be added to, or substracted from, the standard Lagrangian $L_s(\dot{x}, x)$. Then, the following total Lagrangian is obtained

$$L_{tot}(\dot{x}, x, t) = L_s(\dot{x}, x) \pm E_n(x, t) .$$
(4.35)

Substitution of $L_{tot}(\dot{x}, x, t)$ into the E-L equation gives

$$\frac{d}{dt} \left(\frac{\partial L_s}{\partial \dot{x}} \right) - \frac{\partial L_s}{\partial x} = \pm \frac{\partial E_n}{\partial x} .$$
(4.36)

If the standard Lagrangian is specified, the equation of motion is obtained from the terms that depend on L_s , and this equation represents an undriven (conservative) dynamical system. However, the presence of the space derivative of E_n is reponsible for converting the conservative equation of motion into the driven one and it can be considered to be a force F(t).

The above results show that the addition of E_n to $L_s(\dot{x}, x)$ modifies the original mechanical system and makes its equation of motion different. The differences are of two kinds, either a time-dependent force appears in the new equation of motion making it an inhomogeneous ODE (driven system), or the form of the original ODE is modified by a nonlinear term. In the first case, the general solutions to both the homogeneous and inhomogeneous ODEs are the same, but the inhomogeneous ODE has also a complimentary solution that accounts for the force. However, in the second case, new solutions must be found independently to each equation of motion with a nonlinear term added, and since the ODEs are nonlinear finding their solutions could be challenging (Kahn 1990).

The force F(t) that appears in the equation of motion is given by

$$F(t) = \pm \frac{\partial E_n}{\partial x} = \pm \frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left(\frac{\partial \Phi}{\partial t} \right) , \qquad (4.37)$$

which means that the initially undriven equation of motion becomes now the driven one. The force depends on the form of the gauge function, $\Phi(x, t)$, which must be an explicit function of both the dependent variable and the independent variable. Since the gauge function $\Phi(x, t)$ can be any differentiable scalar function, the resulting force can also be of any form (see sections 4.4 and 4.5 for additional specific applications).

According to Eq. (4.26), the simplest form of the gauge function $\Phi(x,t)$ that gives a non-zero force is $\Phi_1(x,t) = c_1 x t$, where c_1 is an arbitrary real constant.

Thus, the resulting force is $F_1 = \pm c_1 = \text{const}$, as shown by Musielak et al. (2020), Musielak & Vestal et al. (2020), and Vestal & Musielak (2021). In the following, we generalize this result to gauge functions that depend on arbitrary functions of x and t but keep the variables separated to obtain general analytical results.

The general force resulting from $\Phi_{g1}(x,t)$ (Eq. 4.27) is

$$F_{g1}(x,t) = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} \sum_{n=1}^{\infty} mn \ C_{m,n} \ x^{m-1} t^{n-1} \ . \tag{4.38}$$

Similarly, for Φ_{g2} , the general force is

$$F_{g2}(x,t) = \sum_{m=1} m \dot{f}_m(t) c_m x^{m-1} .$$
(4.39)

The resulting force is a power series in the dependent variable with each term of this power being multiplied by any differentiable function of the independent variable. This general force reduces to $F_{g2} = F_1 = c_1 = \text{const}$ if, and only if, m = 1 and $f_1(t) = t$.

For Φ_{g3} , and the general force

$$F_{g3}(x,t) = \sum_{m=1}^{\infty} c_{m,n} \dot{f}_m(t) g'_n(x) , \qquad (4.40)$$

where $g'_n(x)$ is the derivative of $g_n(x)$ with respect to x. The gauge function $\Phi_{g3}(x,t)$ is the most general one that can be considered when the dependent and independent variables are separated. Therefore, the resulting NL $L_{ng3}(\dot{x}, x, t)$ and the force $F_{g3}(x,t)$ are also the most general that can be obtained under these conditions, and they are given as infinite sums of all differentiable functions. It must be pointed out that each term in the power series given by Eqs (4.38) and (4.39) and in the summation of functions given by Eq. (4.40) represents a partial NL.

The functions $f_m(t)$ and $g_n(x)$ can be any known elementary functions, including algebraic, trigonometric, exponential, logarithmic, hyperbolic, inverse trigonometric and hyperbolic, and others. The summation of the functions $f_m(t)$ and $g_n(x)$ gives a significant amount of flexibility in defining different forces by using the elementary functions because each term in the summation is a NL that leads to a non-zero force. Since $f_m(t)$ and $g_n(x)$ are to be specified, most known forces in classical mechanics can be formally introduced this way. The coefficients $c_{m,n}$ can be determined by the force required for a given physical system; for instance, the coefficients may represent the amplitude of the force for the given system.

An interesting result is that the above method to define forces can also be extended to introduce nonlinearities into otherwise linear dynamical systems, as will be shown in section 4.6. This shows universality and a broad range of applications of the presented results to classical dynamics.

4.3 From Undriven to Driven Dynamical Systems

Starting from the equations obtained in section 4.1, let us consider specifically how these results apply to a harmonic oscillator system. This application shows how NLs and their respective gauges can be applied to physical systems. The results presented in this section were originally obtained by Musielak & Vestal et al. (2020). For the harmonic oscillator, x(t) is the displacement variable, t is time, and the constants must have different physical dimensions to ensure that the dimensions are physically consistent. The equation of motion of the oscillator is $\hat{D}x(t) = 0$ with c = k/m, where k is a spring constant and m is mass. The characteristic frequency of the oscillator is then $\omega_o = \sqrt{c} = \sqrt{k/m}$, and the equation of motion can be written as

$$\ddot{x}(t) + \omega_o^2 x(t) = 0 . (4.41)$$

It must be noted that Eq. (4.41) also describes a linear and undamped pendulum if x(t) is replaced by $\theta(t)$, where $\theta(t)$ is an angle of the pendulum, and ω_o is replaced by the pendulum characteristic frequency $\omega_p = \sqrt{c} = \sqrt{g/L}$, where g is gravitational acceleration and L is length of the pendulum. With these replacements, the results by Musielak & Vestal et al. (2020) presented below for the oscillator are also valid for the pendulum.

The standard Lagrangian for this oscillator is

$$L_s[\dot{x}(t), x(t)] = \frac{1}{2} \left[(\dot{x}(t))^2 - \omega_o^2 x^2(t) \right] , \qquad (4.42)$$

and the total Lagrangian $L_p[\dot{x}(t), x(t)]$ (see Eq. (4.25)) for these harmonic oscillators can be written as

$$L_p[\dot{x}(t), x(t)] = L_s[\dot{x}(t), x(t)] + \frac{d\phi_p}{dt} , \qquad (4.43)$$

where and the gauge function Φ_p is

$$\Phi_p(t) = \sum_{i=1}^4 \phi_{pi}(t) .$$
(4.44)

Recall the general partial gauge functions found in equations 4.17 through 4.20, which lead to the general partial NLs in equations 4.21 through 4.24. For this specific system, these partial gauge functions are

$$\phi_{p1} = \frac{1}{2} C_1 x^2(t) , \qquad (4.45)$$

$$\phi_{p2} = C_2 x(t) t , \qquad (4.46)$$

$$\phi_{p3} = C_4 x(t) , \qquad (4.47)$$

and

$$\phi_{p4} = C_6 t \ . \tag{4.48}$$

Note that the total derivative of each one of these partial gauge functions gives no contribution to the resulting equation of motion.

Since the gauge functions ϕ_{p2} and ϕ_{p4} depend explicitly on time t, the resulting primary null Lagrangian is also a function of time. Following the formalism presented in section 4.2, we then calculate the primary energy function (e.g., Goldstein et al., 2002; José & Saletan, 2002), E_p , using

$$E_p[\dot{x}(t), x(t)] = \dot{x} \frac{\partial L_p}{\partial \dot{x}} - L_p[\dot{x}(t), x(t)] , \qquad (4.49)$$

which gives

$$E_p[\dot{x}(t), x(t)] = \frac{1}{2} \left[\left(\dot{x}(t) \right)^2 + \omega_o^2 x^2(t) \right] - \left[C_2 x + C_6 \right] , \qquad (4.50)$$

with the first two terms on the RHS representing the energy function E_s for the primary standard Lagrangian and the other two terms corresponding to the primary energy function E_{pf} for the primary gauge function, so that $E_p = E_s + E_{pf}$. Note that using Eq. (4.49) is equivalent to using Eq. (4.32) as this is an application of the formalism developed in the prior sections of this chapter.

In general, $E_p \neq E_{tot}$, with $E_{tot} = E_s = H_s$, where E_{tot} is the total energy of system and H_s is its Hamiltonian, corresponding to the primary standard Lagrangian, and given by $H_s = E_p - E_{pf}$ or

$$H_{ps}[\dot{x}(t), x(t)] = \frac{1}{2} \left[\dot{x}^2(t) + \omega_o^2 x^2(t) \right] .$$
(4.51)

Using the Hamilton equations, the equation of motion for the harmonic oscillator given by Eq. (4.41) is obtained. A similar result is derived when the total derivative of E_p is equal to the negative partial time derivative of L_p that can be written (Goldstein et al., 2002) as

$$\frac{dE_p}{dt} = -\frac{\partial L_p}{\partial t} , \qquad (4.52)$$

which again gives Eq. (4.41). It must be noted that E_p is a conserved quantity and that $E_p \neq E_{tot}$. This shows that the equation of motion of the harmonic oscillator is also obtained when the energy function is used instead of the primary Lagrangian L_p or the Hamiltonian H_{ps} .

The above results show that among the four primary gauge functions, ϕ_{p1} , ϕ_{p2} , ϕ_{p3} and ϕ_{p4} , the first and third do not contribute to the primary energy function, but the second and fourth do contribute, although each one differently. The partial gauge function ϕ_{p2} breaks into two parts and only the part that depends on C_2x contributes to the energy function. However, the partial gauge function ϕ_{p4} fully contributes to the energy function. Let us call ϕ_{p2} the primary *F*-gauge function, and ϕ_{p4} the primary *E*-gauge function.

The reasons for these names are as follows. First, the term C_2x represents energy if, and only if, the coefficient C_2 is a constant acceleration, or a constant force per mass, so that C_2x is work done by this force on the system. This clearly shows that the primary partial gauge function ϕ_{p2} can be used to introduce forces that cause the constant acceleration. Second, the primary partial gauge function ϕ_{p4} introduces a constant energy shift in the system.

Let us define $F_c = C_2$, where F_c represents a constant acceleration or constant force per mass. Similarly, $E_c = C_6$ is a constant energy shift that could be caused by the force. Then, the primary energy function, which includes both the energy function contribution from the standard Lagrangian and the contributions from the two partial gauge functions, can be written as

$$E_p[\dot{x}(t), x(t)] = \frac{1}{2} \left[(\dot{x}(t))^2 + \omega_o^2 x^2(t) \right] - \left[F_c x + E_c \right] .$$
(4.53)

This demonstrates that some gauge functions can be used to introduce external forces that drive the system but other gauge functions may either generate a shift of the total energy of the system or simply have no effect on the system. In other words, only *gauge functions that depend explicitly on time* may be used to introduce forces in classical mechanics. These are new phenomena caused exclusively by including the gauge functions in classical mechanics.

4.4 Gauge Functions for Bateman Oscillators

In building out the framework of applications of null Lagrangians to physics, the next logical step was to consider if this approach would hold for non-conservative systems. In this section, I show how the formalism can be extended to dissipative systems, through use of the Caldirola-Kanai model for Bateman oscillators. Since these oscillators are non-conservative systems, the derived Lagrangians are not consistent with the Helmholtz conditions (von Helmholtz, 1887) and (Vujanovic & Jones, 1989), which guarantee the existence of Lagrangians for the conservative systems. The Lagrange formalism is developed for this dissipative system of oscillators, which includes both damped and amplified systems. A novel method to derive the Caldirola-Kanai, as introduced in section 3.3, is shown, and its validity in describing the Bateman oscillators is also discussed. In the previous section, the null Lagrangian formalism was developed for conservative systems only, which was done by Musielak & Vestal et al. (2020). Extending this work to dissipative systems was an important step in building a more complete framework of null Lagrangians and gauge functions in physics, which allows for a broader investigation of physical systems through the lens of null Lagrangians. Further, it allows for a more complete picture of how null Lagrangians and gauges fit into the study of the physical universe. This work was done by Vestal & Musielak (2021).

The CK Lagrangian is modified by taking into account the GFs and it is shown that this modification allows for the conversion of the undriven Bateman oscillators into driven ones, which is our main result. One obtained SL is the CK Lagrangian, which is well-known, and all other NLs and GFs that are derived simultaneously with the CK Lagrangian are new results from Vestal & Musielak (2021).

The Bateman Lagrangian is as given in Eq (3.12) in section 3.3. Let us define $b = \pm \gamma/m$ and $c = k/m = \omega_o^2$, where ω_o is the characteristic frequency of the oscillators, and write Eqs (3.10) and (3.11) as one equation of motion

$$\ddot{x}(t) + b\dot{x}(t) + \omega_o^2 x(t) = 0 , \qquad (4.54)$$

with the understanding that the damped and amplified oscillators require b > 0 and b < 0, respectively, and that the variable x(t) describes either damped or amplified oscillator. Let $\hat{D} = d^2/dt^2 + bd/dt + \omega_o^2$ be a linear operator, then Eq. (4.54) can be written in the compact form $\hat{D}x(t) = 0$.

Starting with the following Lagrangian, let us follow the formalism used by Musielak et al. (2020) and Musielak & Vestal et al. (2020) from section 4.1,

$$L_n[\dot{x}_1(t), x_1(t), t] = C_1 \dot{x}_1(t) x_1(t) + C_2 [\dot{x}_1(t)t + x_1(t)] + C_4 \dot{x}_1(t) + C_6 , \qquad (4.55)$$

where C_1 , C_2 , C_4 and C_6 are constants. It is easy to verify that $L_n[\dot{x}_1(t), x_1(t), t]$ is the null Lagrangian, with the constants being arbitrary, and that this NL is constructed

to the lowest order of its dynamical variables as shown by Musielak & Vestal et al. (2020). The NL can be added to $L_s[\dot{x}_1(t), x_1(t)]$ without changing the form of the equation of motion resulting from it.

Since the original equations of motion for the Bateman oscillators depend on the dynamical variable x(t) not $x_1(t)$ (see Eqs (3.10) and 3.11), we now use the inverse transform given by Eq. (3.14) to convert the variable $x_1(t)$ into x(t) in both $L_s[\dot{x}_1(t), x_1(t)]$ and $L_n[\dot{x}_1(t), x_1(t), t]$. The resulting total Lagrangian is

$$L[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t] = L_{CK}[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t] + L_n[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t] , \qquad (4.56)$$

where

$$L_{CK}[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t] = \frac{1}{2} \left[(\dot{x}(t))^2 - \omega_o^2 x^2(t) \right] e^{bt} , \qquad (4.57)$$

is the Caldirola-Kanai (CK) Lagrangian (see Caldirola, 1941 and Kanai, 1948), derived here independently; comparison of the CK and Bateman Lagrangians (Eqs (4.57) and (3.12)) shows significant differences between them. The presented method gives the following null Lagrangian

$$L_n[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t] = \sum_{i=1}^3 L_{ni}[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t] , \qquad (4.58)$$

where the partial null Lagrangians are

$$L_{n1}[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t] = \left(C_1 + \frac{1}{2}b\right) \left[\dot{x}(t) + \frac{1}{2}bx(t)\right] x(t)e^{bt} , \qquad (4.59)$$

$$L_{n2}[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t] = C_2 \left[\left(\dot{x}(t) + \frac{1}{2} b x(t) \right) t + x(t) \right] e^{bt/2} , \qquad (4.60)$$

and

$$L_{n3}[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t] = C_4 \left[\dot{x}(t) + \frac{1}{2}bx(t) \right] e^{bt/2} + C_6 , \qquad (4.61)$$

where C_1 , C_2 , C_4 , and C_6 are arbitrary but their physical units are different such that all partial null Lagrangians have the same units of energy. These are new null Lagrangians for the Bateman oscillators. The fact that $L_n[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t]$ and its partial Lagrangians are NLs can be shown by verifying that $\hat{EL}(L_n) = 0$ as well as $\hat{EL}(L_{ni}) =$ 0. It must be also noted that b = 0 reduces $L_n[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t]$ to the null Lagrangian previously obtained by Musielak & Watson (2020).

After a transformation, which is not relevant to this discussion but can be found in the full paper (ie. Vestal & Musielak, 2021) the standard Lagrangian given in 4.57 becomes

$$L_s[\dot{x}_1(t), x_1(t)] = \frac{1}{2} \left[(\dot{x}_1(t))^2 - \left(\omega_o^2 - \frac{1}{4} b^2 \right) x_1^2(t) \right] .$$
(4.62)

With $x_1(t)$ as the transformed dependent variable, it gives

$$\ddot{x}_1(t) + \left(\omega_o^2 - \frac{1}{4}b^2\right)x_1(t) = 0 , \qquad (4.63)$$

which is the equation of motion for a undamped harmonic oscillator if b = 0; then $x_1(t) = x(t)$ (Goldstein et al., 2002) and (José & Saletan, 2002).

The corresponding transformed standard Lagrangian is then

$$L_{CK}[\dot{x}(t), x(t), t] = \frac{1}{2} \left[\left(\dot{x}(t) \right)^2 - \omega_o^2 x^2(t) \right] e^{bt} , \qquad (4.64)$$

which is the Caldirola-Kanai (CK) Lagrangian (Caldirola, 1941 and Kanai, 1948), derived here independently.

For each partial null Lagrangian, the corresponding partial gauge function can be obtained and the results are

$$\phi_{n1}[x(t),t] = \frac{1}{2} \left(C_1 + \frac{1}{2}b \right) x^2(t) e^{bt} , \qquad (4.65)$$

$$\phi_{n2}[x(t),t] = C_2 x(t) t e^{bt/2} , \qquad (4.66)$$

and

$$\phi_{n3}[x(t),t] = C_4 x(t) e^{bt/2} + C_6 t . \qquad (4.67)$$

These partial gauge functions can be added together to form the gauge function

$$\phi_n[x(t), t] = \sum_{i=1}^3 \phi_{ni}[x(t), t] . \qquad (4.68)$$

The derived gauge function and partial gauge functions reduce to those previously obtained (Musielak et al., 2020) when b = 0 is assumed.

The above partial gauge functions are obtained to the lowest order of the dynamical variables for the Bateman oscillators. Therefore, the only way to generalize the gauge functions given by Eqs (4.65), (4.66) and (4.67), without changing the order of their dynamical variables, is to replace the constants C_1 , C_2 , C_4 and C_6 with the corresponding functions $f_1(t)$, $f_2(t)$, $f_4(t)$ and $f_6(t)$, which must be continuous and at least twice differentiable, and must depend only on the independent variable t. In order to obey the assumption that our method of constructing null Lagrangians is limited to the lowest order of the dynamical variables, the functions cannot depend on the space coordinates. An interesting result is that the functions give additional degrees of freedom in constructing the null Lagrangians and their gauge functions.

We follow Musielak et al. (2020) and Musielak & Vestal et al. (2020) and call these GFs the general GFs and write them here as

$$\phi_{gn1}[x(t),t] = \frac{1}{2} \left[f_1(t) + \frac{1}{2}b \right] x^2(t)e^{bt} , \qquad (4.69)$$

$$\phi_{gn2}[x(t),t] = f_2(t)x(t)te^{bt/2} , \qquad (4.70)$$

and

$$\phi_{gn3}[x(t),t] = f_4(t)x(t)e^{bt/2} + f_6(t)t . \qquad (4.71)$$

The general gauge function is obtained by adding these partial gauge functions

$$\phi_{gn}[x(t),t] = \sum_{i=1}^{3} \phi_{gni}[x(t),t] . \qquad (4.72)$$

The results given by Eqs (4.69) through (4.72) are new general gauge functions for the Bateman oscillators and they generalize those previously obtained for Newton's law of inertia (see Musielak et al., 2020) and for linear undamped oscillators by Musielak & Vestal et al. (2020) for which b = 0. The corresponding general null Lagrangians for the Bateman oscillators can easily be obtained by calculating the total derivatives of the derived gauge functions (see Chapter 3).

4.5 Additional Forces in Dynamical Systems

Our theoretical results presented in the previous section demonstrate how NLs and their gauge functions can be used to introduce forces to classical dynamical systems. We consider the equation of motion for a driven harmonic oscillator given by

$$\ddot{x}(t) + x(t) = F(t)$$
, (4.73)

where typical forms of the force F(t) are given in Table 4.1. The presented forces are time-dependent and they are given by some well-known elementary functions.

The aim is now to identify gauge functions that can be used to introduce these forces. For the forces presented in Table 4.1, the most appropriate is the general gauge function given by Eq. (4.30). The procedure is straightforward and requires comparing the forces in Table 4.1 to the general force term given by Eq. (4.40). In other words, we identify the coefficients $c_{m,n}$ and the derivatives of functions $f_m(t)$ and $g_n(x)$. Then, Eq. (4.30) can be used to determine the gauge function corresponding to each force of Table 4.1 as well as the NL corresponding to each force, which can be obtained using Eq. (4.31).

We may also consider F that does not explicitly depend on t but instead depends on x. Taking $F(x) = -\varepsilon F_0 x$, where $0 < \varepsilon \leq 1$, and substituting into Eq. (4.40), we

Dynamical	Force	Gauge function
systems	F(t)	$\Phi(x,t) = \Phi_1(x,t) + \Phi_2(x,t)$
Driven	$F(t) = F_0 \cos t$	$\Phi_1(x,t) = xF_0\sin t$
oscillators		$\Phi_2(x,t) = 0$
	$F(t) = F_0 \cos^2 t$	$\Phi_1(x,t) = \frac{1}{2}xtF_0$
	$= \frac{1}{2}F_0(1+\cos 2t)$	$\Phi_2(x,t) = \frac{1}{4}xF_0\sin 2t$
	$F(t) = F_0 \cos^3 t$	$\Phi_1(x,t) = \frac{3}{4}xF_0\sin t$
	$= \frac{1}{4}F_0(3\cos t + \cos 3t)$	$\Phi_2(x,t) = \frac{1}{12}xF_0\sin 3t$
	$F(t) = F_0 e^{it}$	$\Phi_1(x,t) = -ixF_0e^{it}$
		$\Phi_2(x,t) = 0$
	$F(t) = F_1 \cos t$	$\Phi_1(x,t) = xF_1\sin t$
	$+F_2\sin t$	$\Phi_2(x,t) = -xF_2\cos t$
RLC circuits	$E(t) = E_0 \sin t$	$\Phi_1(x,t) = -xE_0 cost$
		$\Phi_2(x,t) = 0$

Table 4.1. Selected forces in dynamical systems and their gauge functions, from Goldstein et al. (2002), José et al. (2002), and Kahn (1990)

obtain the equation of motion of the altered simple harmonic oscillator (Musielak et al., 2020). The gauge function for this force is $\Phi = -\frac{\varepsilon}{2}F_0x^2t$ as obtained from Eq. (4.30), and the corresponding NL is $L_n(\dot{x}, x, t) = -\frac{1}{2}\varepsilon F_0(2\dot{x}t + x)x$.

The gauge functions presented in Table 4.1 become special cases of general gauge functions given by Eqs (4.26), (4.28), and (4.30). As an example, let us consider the force $F(t) = \cos^2 t = \frac{1}{2}F_0(1 + \cos 2t)$. Then, its gauge function $\Phi_1(x, t) = \frac{1}{2}xtF_0 =$ $\Phi_{g1}(x, t)$ with m = n = 1 and $C_{1,1} = \frac{1}{2}F_0$ (see Eq. 4.64). However, the gauge function $\Phi_2(x, t) = \frac{1}{4}xF_0 \sin 2t = \Phi_{g2}(x, t)$ with m = 1 and $C_1 = \frac{1}{4}F_0$ and $f_1(t) = \sin 2t$ (see Eq. 5.22). The same force can also be identified as $\Phi_{g1}(x, t) = C_{1,1}f_1(t)g_1(x) +$
$C_{2,2}f_2(t)g_2(x)$, where $C_{1,1} = \frac{1}{2}F_0$, $f_1(t) = t$, $g_1(x) = x$, $C_{2,2} = \frac{1}{4}F_0$, $f_2(t) = \sin 2t$ and $g_2(x) = x$. Similar identification can be performed for all forces given in Table 4.1.

In the above results, the gauge functions were obtained for forces that are typically used to drive harmonic oscillators. However, the process can be reversed and forces can be determined by using the gauge functions presented in sections 4.1.1 and 4.1.2. The same method can also be used to introduce nonlinearities to the equation of motion of a harmonic oscillator, which will be shown in the section immediately following.

4.6 Gauge Functions and Nonlinear Dynamics

Using the method developed in section 4.2, herein I show how nonlinearities can be introduced to a system, in a similar way to how this was done for forces; the results are presented for these nonlinearities in Table 4.2, paralleling the presentation of forces in Table 4.1. It must be noted that we make no claim that our method can only be used for forces and nonlinearities, and further exploration of how powerful NLs and GFs are for systems in science and engineering is a promising area of future research.

Having shown how forces can be added to the equations of motion for harmonic oscillators and the Bateman oscillators in the previous chapter, it will now be shown how the method can be applied to introduce nonlinearities. In this way, a wellknown nonlinear equation is produced. This is important for i) showing a new way to introduce nonlinear terms, and ii) demonstrating the potential of the NL formalism for introducing a range of physical phenomena; this was shown by Vestal & Musielak (2023). First, we started with the following equation of motion,

$$\ddot{x}(t) + x(t) = H(\dot{x}, x) ,$$
 (4.74)

from which it is possible to represent different forms of nonlinearities in dynamical systems by a choice of $H(\dot{x}, x)$. We selected several examples of nonlinear dynamical systems, including well-known systems such as the Duffing oscillator (see Levy-Leblond, 1969 and Musielak et al., 2020), and from H(x) identified the gauge function $(\Phi(x,t))$ that produces each one; this was done by following the approach used to similarly match forces to their generating GFs, as presented in section 4.5. The results for these GFs for nonlinearities are presented in Table 4.2.

The gauge functions presented in Table 4.1 become special cases of general gauge functions given by Eqs (4.26), (4.28) and (4.30). It is straightforward to show that any $\Phi(x,t)$ in Table 4.2 can be identified as either $\Phi_{g1}(x,t)$, $\Phi_{g2}(x,t)$, or $\Phi_{g3}(x,t)$ from section 4.1 by an making an appropriate selection of the coefficients and functions in these equations. Further, note that more general nonlinearities can be obtained from this method than the results presented in Table 4.2.

All dynamical systems considered in these two tables illustrate the relationships between forces and nonlinearities and their corresponding gauge functions. The purpose of this illustration is to demonstrate that typical forms of forces and nonlinearities have gauge functions that can be used to introduce them by way of the method presented in the earlier section. Further, this method of introducing nonlinearities into otherwise linear equations of motion can be combined with the method of defining forces so that linear, undriven dynamical systems can be converted into nonlinear and driven ones; this means that our method can be applied to a broad range of dynamical systems.

Type of	Nonlinearity	Gauge function	
oscillator	H(x)	$\Phi(x,t)$	
Quadratic	$H(x) = -\varepsilon x^2$	$\Phi(x,t) = -\frac{1}{3}\varepsilon x^3 t$	
Duffing	$H(x) = -\varepsilon x^3$	$\Phi(x,t) = -\frac{1}{4}\varepsilon x^4 t$	
Quadratic and cubic	$H(x) = -\varepsilon(x^2 + x^3)$	$\Phi(x,t) = -\frac{\varepsilon}{3}x^3t - \frac{\varepsilon}{4}x^4t$	
Quartic	$H(x) = -\varepsilon x^4$	$\Phi(x,t) = -\frac{1}{5}\varepsilon x^5 t$	
Quintic	$H(x) = -\varepsilon x^5$	$\Phi(x,t) = -\frac{1}{6}\varepsilon x^6 t$	
Higher-order	$H(x) = -\varepsilon x^{2n+1}$	$\Phi(x,t) = -\frac{\varepsilon}{2n+2}x^{2n+2}t$	

Table 4.2. Selected nonlinearities in dynamical systems, from Goldstein et al. (2002), José et al. (2002), and Abraham et al. (2008), and their gauge functions.

Thus, the presented results demonstrate a new important role of gauge functions and null Lagrangians in classical mechanics and, specifically, in its theory of dynamical systems. It is natural at this point to ask what other physical phenomena, beyond nonlinearities and forces, might similarly have a gauge function representation.

4.7 Gauge Functions for Equations with Special Function Solutions

It is possible to write a Lagrangian general enough that it can produce multiple SFs by a simple choice of variables. In this section, I will discuss how we developed a method to derive general standard Lagrangians and NLs for SFs, starting with the aforementioned Lagrangian, which is given below. This approach may feel familiar, as the approach of starting with a general equation to describe a range of systems was similarly utilized in the previous section. For this work, an approach like the ones described in section 4.1 was followed to constuct the NLs and GFs. The SLs investigated here depend on the square of the first derivative of the dependent variable (kinetic energy-like term) and the square of the dependent variable (potential energylike term). This project was also the impetus for the prior work that resulted in a generalized formalism for introducing forces and nonlinear terms from NLs, which was described in prior sections. Once these NLs and GFs were shown to reproduce the equations for SFs, I felt it was important to consider the full range of NLs that could be added to a SL.

Special functions play an important role in the mathematical framework of physics, as discussed in section 3.4, and exploring the deeper link between these equations and the corresponding gauge functions from which they can be derived was the motivation for the work described in this section. As some SFs are of particular interest for applications to physical systems, a focus was given to these systems; however, the work described herein could be expanded in a straightforward way to consider other SFs of interest. Our results are applied to the Bessel, Hermite, and Legendre equations, as these specific SFs are used in many physical applications. The choice to focus on these specific ODEs was made due to their many physical applications familiar to graduate and undergraduate science students, and the presented results should be of interest to physicists, applied mathematicians, and engineers.

Prior to this project, the role of NLs and GFs for ODEs with special function solutions had not yet been explored. This section will describe the work that I have done in exploring this link (see Dange, Vestal, & Musielak, 2021).

The process of determining the link between a given Lagrangian and the generating GF was done first for the general Lagrangian, and the resulting general gauge functions and null Lagrangians were used to solve for the coefficients B(x) and C(x)for the three specific SFs. This process is shown below. Let $\widetilde{D} = d^2/dx^2 + B(x)d/dx + C(x)$ be a linear operator operating on smooth C^{∞} functions. If \widetilde{D} acts on y(x), which is also ordinary and smooth, then the resulting ODE can be written in the following explicit form

$$y''(x) + B(x)y'(x) + C(x)y(x) = 0$$
(4.75)

As aforementioned, by specifying the coefficients B(x) and C(x), which is done here, all ODEs with the special function solutions are obtained; for these equations, we derive the SLs and NLs in this way.

Then, let us consider the general Lagrangian

$$L(y', y(x), x) = \frac{1}{2}f_1(x)y'^2 + \frac{1}{2}f_2(x)y(x)y'(x) + \frac{1}{2}f_3(x)y^2, \qquad (4.76)$$

where $f_1(x)$, $f_2(x)$, and $f_3(x)$ are ordinary and smooth functions to be determined. Note specifically that this Lagrangian chosen depends on the square of the first derivative of the dependent variable (kinetic energy-like term), the square of the dependent variable (potential energy-like term) and on the mixed term with the dependent variable and its derivative. Substituting the above Lagrangian into the E-L equation given in Eq. 2.1 yields

$$y''(x) + \left(\frac{f_1'}{f_2'}\right)y'(x) + \frac{1}{f_1}\left(\frac{1}{2}f_2' - f_3\right)y(x) = 0.$$
(4.77)

Next, by comparing equations 4.75 and 4.77, B(x) and C(x) can be determined and are found to be $B(x) = \frac{f'_1}{f_1}$ and $C(x) = \frac{1}{f_1} \left(\frac{1}{2} f'_2 - f_3 \right)$.

By considering Eq. (4.76) and solving for functions f_1 and f_3 , we then find that

$$f_1 = c_1 e^{\int B(x)dx} = c_1 E_s \tag{4.78}$$

$$f_3 = \frac{1}{2}f'_2 - C(x) \cdot f_1 = \frac{1}{2}f'_2 - C(x) \cdot (c_1 E_s), \qquad (4.79)$$

where c_1 is the integration constant and $E_s = e^{\int B(x)dx}$.

Substituting f_1 and f_3 into the L(y', y, x), we find

$$L_{eq}(y', y, x) = L_s(y', y, x) + L_n(y', y, x)$$
(4.80)

where

$$L_s(y', y, x) = \frac{1}{2}c_1 E_s \left[y'(x)^2 - C(x)y(x)^2 \right]$$
(4.81)

and

$$L_n(y', y, x) = \frac{1}{2}y[f_2y'(x) + \frac{1}{2}f'_2(x)y(x)], \qquad (4.82)$$

with L(y', y, x) being a combination of the general standard Lagrangian $L_s(y', y, x)$ and the general null Lagrangian, $L_n(y', y, x)$. It must be noted that $L_s(y', y, x)$ generalizes the Caldirola-Kanai (CK, see sections 3.3, 4.4) Lagrangian and it reduces to the CK Lagrangian when B(s) = b = const and C(x) = c = const; the standard Lagrangian also describes a harmonic oscillator with time dependent mass and a spring constant.

Having obtained the general null Lagrangian, we now derive the corresponding general form of the gauge function (Φ) by using,

$$L_{null} = \frac{1}{4}f_2'(x)y^2(x) + \frac{1}{2}f_2(x)y(x)y'(x) = \frac{d\Phi}{dx}.$$
(4.83)

The gauge function for Eq. (4.83) is obtained,

$$\Phi = \frac{1}{4} f_2(x) y^2(x). \tag{4.84}$$

Further, as $f_2(x)$ is arbitrary, three cases were considered. The trivial case of $f_2 = 0$ leads to the minimum L_s . The contribution from the null Lagrangian vanishes for this case, and $\Phi = 0$. The gauge obtained by substituting this case into the GF is $\Phi = \frac{1}{4}f_2(x)y^2(x) = 0$ (no gauge function).

For the case of a constant value of f_2 , $L_{eq,mid} = L_{s,max} + L_{n,max}$. The resulting gauge equation, again obtained via Eq. (4.84) is $\phi = \frac{1}{4}f_2(x)y^2(x) = \frac{1}{4}cy^2(x) = c_2y^2(x)$ (variable gauge function). The third case is $f_2 = f'_1$, which leads to the maximum value for the equivalent Lagrangian, $L_{eq,max} = L_{s,max} + L_{n,max}$. The corresponding maximum variable gauge function is then obtained similarly to the two aforementioned and is $\phi = \Phi_{max} = \frac{1}{4}c_1E_sB(x)y^2(x)$. Applications of these results to the three selected ODEs, along with the general result, are given in Table 4.3. Note that the choice of α , β , and γ allow for different Bessel equations (regular, modified, spherical, and spherical modified) to be obtained.

To summarize, in this project general standard and null Lagrangians were found for linear second-order ODEs whose solutions were given by the SFs of mathematical physics and appear published in Dange, Vestal & Musielak (2021). The derived gauge functions are also a new result. The obtained results were applied to the Bessel, Hermite, and Legendre equations, making them very relevant to physicists and applied mathematicians; further, these results could easily be applied to any ODE with SF solutions, presenting a promising area of future work.

4.8 Summary

This chapter presents a fundamental first step in constructing NLs and exploring their new important roles in classical physics. The chapter begins with two methods to construct standard null Lagrangians. This is followed by my first published results that appeared in the paper by Musielak & Vestal et al. (2020), wherein we present an approach to convert undriven oscillators to driven ones in a novel way by using the derived NLs. The formalism was then extended to dissipative systems, focusing on the Bateman oscillator system, by Vestal & Musielak (2021). This work showed that application of the formalism developed is not limited to conservative systems,

	TABLE 1.			
	Equation	$L = L_S + L_n$	$L_{n,max}$	Φ_{max}
General	y'' + B(x)y' + C(x)y = 0	$\frac{1}{2}f_{1}(x)y'^{2} + \frac{1}{2}f_{2}(x)yy' + \frac{1}{2}f_{3}(x)y^{2}$	$\frac{1}{2}y\left[f_2y^{'}+\frac{1}{2}f_2^{'}y\right]$	${}^{1}_{4}f_{2}\left(x\right)\cdot y^{2}\left(x\right)$
General Bessel	$B(x) = \frac{a}{x}$ $C(x) = \beta \left(1 + \gamma \frac{u^2}{x^2}\right)$	$\frac{\frac{1}{2}c_{1} \cdot x \left[y^{\prime 2} - C \left(x \right) y^{2} \right]}{\frac{1}{+2}y \left[f_{2}y^{'} + \frac{1}{2}f_{2}^{'}y \right]}$	$\frac{1}{2}c_1e^{\alpha c_2} \cdot \alpha x^{\alpha-1} \cdot y\left[\frac{\alpha-1}{2}x^{-1}y + y'\right]$	$\frac{1}{4}c_{1}\cdot e^{\alpha c_{2}}\cdot \alpha x^{\alpha-1}\cdot y^{2}\left(x\right)$
Regular Hermite	B(x) = -x $C(x) = x$	$ \begin{array}{l} \frac{1}{2}c_{1}e^{\frac{-2}{2}}\left[y^{'2}-xy^{2}\right] \\ +\frac{1}{2}y\left[f_{2}y^{'}+\frac{1}{2}f_{2}^{'}y\right] \end{array} $	$\frac{1}{2}e^{\frac{-2}{2}} \cdot y\left[\frac{1}{2}y(x^2-1) - xy'\right]$	$\frac{-1}{4}e^{\frac{-x^2}{2}} \cdot x \cdot y^2(x)$
Regular Legendre	$B(x) = \frac{2x}{1-x^2}$ $C(x) = \frac{l(l+1)}{1-x^2}$	$\frac{\frac{1}{2}c}{1-x^2} \left \left[y'^2 - \left(\frac{h(l+1)}{1-x^2} \right) \cdot y^2 \right] + \frac{1}{2}y \left[f_2 y' + \frac{1}{2} f_2' y \right] \right.$	$\pm x c y y' \pm \frac{1}{2} c y^2$	$\pm \frac{1}{2}c \cdot x \cdot y^2(x)$

Figure 4.1. Selected equations with special function solutions and their corresponding gauge functions. By the choice of α , β and γ , different (regular, modified, spherical and spherical modified) Bessel equations are obtained (Dange, Vestal, & Musielak 2021).

which is a novel result. I also developed a new approach to finding NLs and their gauge functions in a generalized way, and for going between NLs and corresponding gauge functions. The formalism was developed for introducing forces and nonlinearities directly from these gauges, and I showed how forces and nonlinearities of interest for applications to physics can be reproduced using this method in Vestal & Musielak (2023). The successful adaption of the NL formalism to nonlinearities further demonstrates how promising the study of NLs and gauge functions is for physical systems. There may be additional phenomena beyond those described herein that NLs can also be used to introduce to a system. Moreover, standard and null Lagrangians, and their corresponding gauge functions, were also derived for linear second-order ODEs whose solutions are given by SFs of mathematical physics and appeared published in Dange, Vestal, & Musielak, 2021. The derived gauge functions are also a new result. The research presented herein helps to lay the groundwork for a large-scale investigation of the application of NLs to the field of physics, of which this dissertation is a piece.

CHAPTER 5

Non-standard Null Lagrangians and their Applications to Dynamics

In this chapter, I will present additional applications of non-standard and nonstandard null Lagrangians (NSNLs) to systems of interest in dynamics. I start by describing a method to construct NSNLs. This will be followed by first presenting the way in which NSNLs and their corresponding non-standard gauge functions (NSGFs) can be used to introduce dissipative forces to Classical Dynamics, extending what was done in Chapter 4 to non-standard Lagrangians, which is the main conclusion of work by Segovia, Vestal, & Musielak (2022); this work illustrates the unique role that NSNLs play in physics, notably that the behavior of the non-standard representation of a system can differ from the behavior of the standard Lagrangian. Further, in this project we showed that the NSNL for the law of inertia is Galilean invariant but the forces resulting from the NSNL are not Galilean invariant, except for the special case of only time-dependent forces. The chapter concludes with recent work of Das & Musielak (2023), who demonstrated strong relationships between standard and non-standard null Lagrangians and non-standard Lagrangians.

A method to construct NSNLs and corresponding NSGFs is presented in section 5.1. An extension of the formalism for introducing forces by way of NLs and GFs to consider NSNLs and NSGFs, is their Galilean invariance, are given in sections 5.2 and 5.3. Nonlinearities arising from GFs are discussed in section 5.4. Newly discovered relationships between non-standard Lagrangians and standard and non-standard null Lagrangians are discussed in section 5.5.; the chapter is summarized in section 5.6.

5.1 Methods to Construct Non-standard Null Lagrangians

The next step in investigating the role of NLs in physics is to explore if a similar formalism can be found for non-standard Lagrangians (see section 2.3.2) to find a non-standard null Lagrangian (NSNL). No such formalism exists within literature.

Recall that NSLs are described as Lagrangians different from standard Lagrangians (Musielak, 2021). Is it possible to write a non-standard null Lagrangian, what would a term like this look like, and what sort of physical significance might it have, if any? The first two of these questions will be addressed in this section. An approach to finding NSNLs (non-standard Lagrangians that also satisfy the two conditions for being a null Lagrangian) is now presented.

We will begin by considering a very commonly used NSL,

$$L_{ns}(\dot{x}, x, t) = \frac{1}{g_1(t)\dot{x} + g_2(t)x + g_3(t)} , \qquad (5.1)$$

where $g_1(t)$, $g_2(t)$ and $g_3(t)$ are arbitrary and differentiable functions that are to be determined. In addition to being different from standard Lagrangians, non-standard Lagrangians must be similar to this equation (Musielak, 2021). The NSL, and therefore the NSNL, must then contain \dot{x} , x and arbitrary functions of t, or constants. Further, to be a NSNL, it is necessary that the power of the dependent variable and its derivative not exceed their order as given in Eq. (5.1).

Proposition 1: Let a_1 , a_2 , a_3 and a_4 be constants in the following non-standard test-Lagrangian

$$L_{ns,test1}(\dot{x}, x, t) = \frac{a_1 \dot{x}}{a_2 x + a_3 t + a_4} .$$
(5.2)

Then, $L_{ns,test1}(\dot{x}, x, t)$ is a null Lagrangian if, and only if, $a_3 = 0$.

Proof: Since this Lagrangian must satisfy the E-L equation, $\hat{EL}\{L_{ns,test1}(\dot{x}, x, t)\} = 0$, the required condition is $a_1a_3 = 0$. With $a_1 \neq 0$, then $a_3 = 0$, and $L_{ns,test1}(\dot{x}, x, t) = L_{nsn1}(\dot{x}, x, t)$, where the latter is the non-standard NL. This concludes the proof.

Corollary 2: Let $L_{nsn1}[\dot{x}, x]$ be the non-standard null Lagrangian given by

$$L_{nsn1}(\dot{x}, x, t) = \frac{a_1 \dot{x}}{a_2 x + a_4} , \qquad (5.3)$$

then, its gauge function $\Phi_{nsn1}(x)$ is

$$\Phi_{nsn1}(x) = \frac{a_1}{a_2} \ln |a_2 x + a_4| .$$
(5.4)

Corollary 3: Another non-standard NL that can be constructed is $L_{nsn2}(t) = b_1/(b_2t + b_3)$ with its gauge function $\Phi_{nsn2}(t) = (b_1/b_2) \ln |b_2t + b_3|$; however, this Lagrangian and its gauge function do not obey the first condition, thus, they will not be further considered.

Generalization of $L_{nsn1}(\dot{x}, x)$ is now presented in Proposition 2.

Proposition 2: Let $h_1(t)$, $h_2(t)$ and $h_4(t)$ be at least twice differentiable functions, and $L_{nsn1}(\dot{x}, x)$ be the non-standard NL given by Eq. (5.3) with its nonstandard GF given by Eq. (5.4). A more general non-standard NL is obtained if, and only if, the constants in $\Phi_{nsn1}(x)$ are replaced by the corresponding functions $h_1(t)$, $h_2(t)$ and $h_4(t)$.

Proof: Replacing the constant coefficients a_1 , a_2 and a_4 in $L_{nsn1}(\dot{x}, x)$ by the functions $h_1(t)$, $h_2(t)$ and $h_4(t)$, respectively, the resulting Lagrangian is

$$L_{ns,test2}(\dot{x}, x, t) = \frac{h_1(t)\dot{x}}{h_2(t)x + h_4(t)} .$$
(5.5)

Using $\hat{EL}\{L_{ns,test2}(\dot{x}, x, t)\} = 0$, it is seen that $L_{ns,test2}(\dot{x}, x, t)$ is the non-standard NL only when $h_1(t) = a_1$, $h_2(t) = a_2$ and $h_4(t) = a_4$, which reduces $L_{ns,test2}(\dot{x}, x, t)$ to $L_{nsn1}(\dot{x}, x, t)$, and shows that no generalization of $L_{nsn1}(\dot{x}, x, t)$ can be accomplished this way.

Now, replacing the constant coefficients in $\Phi_{nsn1}(x)$ by the functions $h_1(t)$, $h_2(t)$ and $h_4(t)$ generalizes the gauge function to

$$\Phi_{nsgn}(x) = \frac{h_1(t)}{h_2(t)} \ln |h_2(t)x + h_4(t)| .$$
(5.6)

Since the total derivative of any differentiable scalar function that depends on x and t is a null Lagrangian, the following non-standard NL is obtained

$$L_{nsgn}(\dot{x}, x, t) = \frac{h_1(t)[h_2(t)\dot{x} + \dot{h}_2(t)x] + \dot{h}_4(t)}{h_2(t)[h_2(t)x + h_4(t)]} + \left[\frac{\dot{h}_1(t)}{h_2(t)} - \frac{h_1(t)\dot{h}_2(t)}{h_2^2(t)}\right] \ln|h_2(t)x + h_4(t)|$$
(5.7)

As expected $\hat{EL}\{L_{nsgn}(\dot{x}, x, t)\} = 0$. Therefore, $L_{nsgn}(\dot{x}, x, t)$ is the general (when compared to Eq. 5.3) non-standard null Lagrangian. This concludes the proof.

In this way, a new family of NSNLs, given in a general form by $L_{nsgn}(\dot{x}, x, t)$, is obtained. Further, the corresponding gauge functions for these NSNLs are found to be $\Phi_{nsgn}(\dot{x}, x, t)$. In section 3.1, a physical application of NSNLs to the law of inertia is presented and a remarkable result arising only from the non-standard form is discussed.

5.2 Non-standard Null Lagrangians and Forces in Classical Mechanics

In this section, the role of NSNLs and their NSGFs in defining forces in CM is investigated by following Segovia, Vestal, & Musielak (2022). The main result found from this work is that dissipative forces can be introduced to CM by using the NSGFs. The relationships between the forces and types of null Lagrangians that introduce them are used to gain novel insight into the physical meaning of the standard and non-standard null Lagrangians and the differences between the two. In section 5.3, the obtained results are further discussed as they relate to Newton's laws, which were introduced in NSL form in section 3.1.2. While standard and non-standard null Lagrangians the same equation of motion for a given system, we explore a unique aspect of the non-standard formulation that leads to a compelling result.

As discussed in section 2.3.2, non-standard Lagrangians are a lesser known family of Lagrangians in which neither explicit kinetic nor potential energy-like terms are present. These Lagrangians have been introduced to CM in recent years. However, the physical meaning of the NSLs remains unclear (see discussion in section 2.3.2). In this section, I present an extension to the formalism established for SLs to NSLs.

The forms of SLs and NSLs are distinct, thus, there are also the corresponding NLs whose forms resemble those two families of Lagrangians. In the previous work on NLs (e.g., Musielak & Vestal et al., 2020; Vestal & Musielak 2021, 2023; Jammer, 1997, 2000), the so-called standard NLs have been used. Recently, non-standard NLs have been introduced (Musielak, 2021), and herein the aim is to understand the physical meaning of the non-standard NLs and their role in dynamical systems.

The results herein demonstrate that the non-standard NLs can be used to introduce dissipative forces, and that this distinguishes them from the standard NLs that are responsible for non-dissipative forces. From a physical point of view, this means that the standard Lagrangians are more suitable for describing undamped dynamical systems, while the non-standard Lagrangians are more applicable to damped systems; this statement applies equally to the SLs and NSLs as well as to the standard and non-standard NLs. Further, in section 5.3 the obtained results are used to introduce dissipative forces to the law of inertia and convert it into Newton's second law; Galilean invariance of the laws and their Lagrangians is also investigated and discussed.

A method to construct NSLs introduced in section 5.1 can now be used to find

$$L_n(\dot{x}, x) = \frac{a_1 \dot{x}}{a_2 x + a_4},\tag{5.8}$$

where a_1 , a_2 and a_4 are arbitrary constant coefficients. It is easy to verify that $L_n(\dot{x}, x)$ is indeed a null Lagrangian, and that its gauge function is

$$\Phi_n(x) = \frac{a_1}{a_2} \ln |a_2 x + a_4| .$$
(5.9)

To generalize these results, it was suggested that the coefficients a_1 , a_2 and a_4 be replaced by the corresponding functions of t so the generalized gauge function [31] becomes

$$\Phi_{gn}(x,t) = \frac{h_1(t)}{h_2(t)} \ln |h_2(t)x + h_4(t)| , \qquad (5.10)$$

where $h_1(t)$, $h_2(t)$ and $h_3(t)$ are twice differentiable but otherwise arbitrary functions of t, and in addition $h_2 \neq 0$. This gauge function gives the following general nonstandard NL

$$L_{gn}(\dot{x}, x, t) = \frac{h_1(t)[h_2(t)\dot{x} + \dot{h}_2(t)x] + \dot{h}_4(t)}{h_2(t)[h_2(t)x + h_4]} + \left[\frac{\dot{h}_1(t)}{h_2(t)} - \frac{h_1(t)\dot{h}_2(t)}{h_2^2(t)}\right] \ln|h_2(t)x + h_4| , \qquad (5.11)$$

which is significantly different than $L_n(\dot{x}, x)$ given by Eq. (5.8), despite the fact that both are null Lagrangians.

Let $\Phi_{null}[x(t), t]$ be a gauge function (either $\Phi_n(x)$ or $\Phi_{gn}(x, t)$). Any NL can then be expressed as $L_{null}(\dot{x}, x, t) = d\Phi_{null}(x, t)/dt$, which gives the energy function

$$E_{null}(\dot{x}, x, t) = -\frac{\partial \Phi_{null}(x, t)}{\partial t} .$$
(5.12)

By using $\Phi_{null}(x,t) = \Phi_n(x)$, we find $E_n = 0$ because the gauge function does not depend explicitly on time. However, for $\Phi_{null}(x,t) = \Phi_{gn}(x,t)$, we obtain

$$E_{gn}(\dot{x}, x, t) = -\left[\frac{\dot{h}_1(t)}{h_1(t)} - \frac{\dot{h}_2(t)}{h_2(t)}\right] \Phi_{gn}(x, t) \\ -\left[\frac{h_1(t)}{h_2(t)}\right] \frac{h_2(t)\dot{x} + \dot{h}_2(t)x + \dot{h}_4(t)}{h_2(t)x + h_4(t)} .$$
(5.13)

This shows that different gauge functions have different effects on the energy function, namely, for some it can be zero, but for others becomes non-zero, and it is interesting that it depends on the gauge function itself.

Having obtained the relationship between the energy function and the gauge function (Eq. 5.12), and knowing that $E_{null}(\dot{x}, x, t)$ resulting from any non-standard NL is not a NL by itself, we may add this extra term to the NSL given by Eq. (5.1). This gives

$$L_t(\dot{x}, x, t) = L_{ns}(\dot{x}, x, t) - \frac{\partial \Phi_{null}(x, t)}{\partial t} , \qquad (5.14)$$

where the NSL is either

$$L_{ns}(\dot{x}, x, t) = \frac{1}{C_1 f^2(t) [f(t)\dot{x} - a_o x + C_2]} , \qquad (5.15)$$

or

$$L_{ns}(\dot{x}, x, t) = \frac{1}{C_3 \dot{x}} , \qquad (5.16)$$

with $f(t) = a_o t + v_o$, and $\Phi_{null}(x, t) = \Phi_{gn}(x, t)$, since there is no contribution from $\Phi_n(x)$.

The equation of motion resulting from Eq. (5.15) is

$$\frac{2\ddot{x}}{C_1[f(t)\dot{x} - a_o x + C_2]^3} = F(\dot{x}, x, t) , \qquad (5.17)$$

and using Eq. (5.16), we obtain

$$\frac{2\ddot{x}}{C_3\dot{x}^2} = F(\dot{x}, x, t) , \qquad (5.18)$$

where the forcing function is

$$F(\dot{x}, x, t) = -\frac{\partial}{\partial x} \left[\frac{\partial \Phi_{gn}(x, t)}{\partial t} \right] = \frac{\partial E_{gn}(\dot{x}, x, t)}{\partial x} .$$
(5.19)

Because of the presence of additional terms on the LHS of the above equations, we may write Eqs (5.17) and (5.18) in the following forms: $\ddot{x} = F_1(\dot{x}, x, t)$ and $\ddot{x} = F_2(\dot{x}, x, t)$, respectively, where $F_1(\dot{x}, x, t) = F(\dot{x}, x, t)C_1[f(t)\dot{x} - a_o x + C_2]^3$ and $F_2(\dot{x}, x, t) = F(\dot{x}, x, t)C_3\dot{x}^2/2$. The effects of these extra terms on the forcing function are discussed in Section 5.

The above results demonstrate how classical forces can be defined using the nonstandard NLs, and also show how the law of inertia can be converted into the second law of dynamics. The main difference between the previous results (eg. Musielak & Vestal et al., 2020; Vestal & Musielak, 2021) and the ones presented in this section is the physical nature of the forces introduced by the non-standard NLs, namely, the forces resulting from the non-standard NLs are dissipative, while the forces introduced by the standard NLs are non-dissipative.

Our method of converting the first law of dynamics into the second one gives an independent way to introduce forces in CM, and supplements Newton's definition of forces that directly relates them to object's acceleration and mass (e.g., Jammer, 1997, 2000). Thus, the presented results show a deeper connection between Newton's first and second laws of dynamics, and demonstrate that non-standard NLs can be used to turn undriven dynamical systems into driven ones.

Using Eqs (5.13) and (5.19), we obtain the explicit form of the forcing function

$$F(\dot{x}, x, t) = \frac{h_1(t)h_2(t)}{[h_2(t)x(t) + h_4(t)]^2} \left[\dot{x} + \left(\frac{\dot{h}_2(t)}{h_2(t)} - \frac{\dot{h}_1(t)}{h_1(t)} \right) x \right] - \frac{h_1(t)h_4(t)}{[h_2(t)x(t) + h_4(t)]^2} \left(\frac{\dot{h}_4(t)}{h_4(t)} - \frac{\dot{h}_1(t)}{h_1(t)} \right) .$$
(5.20)

For $F(\dot{x}, x, t)$ to be zero, either $h_1(t) = 0$ or $h_1(t) = h_2(t) = 0$. There are several special cases, like $h_1(t) = c_1$, $h_2(t) = c_2$, and $h_4(t) = 0$, which gives $F(\dot{x}, x) = -c_1 \dot{x}/x$, or $h_1(t) = c_1$, $h_2(t) = c_2$, and $h_4(t) = c_4$, which results in $F(\dot{x}, x) = -c_1 c_2 \dot{x}/(c_2 x + c_4)$. A special case of $h_2(t) = 0$ makes F(t) to be only a function of t. Other reductions of $F(\dot{x}, x, t)$ are also possible but since the forcing function originates exclusively from the gauge function $\Phi_{gn}(x,t)$, there are other terms resulting from $L_{ns}(\dot{x}, x, t)$ (see Eqs 5.17 and 5.18), and these extra terms affect, in addition to $F(\dot{x}, x, t)$, the forms of functions $F_1(\dot{x}, x, t)$ and $F_2(\dot{x}, x, t)$. Both extra terms depend on the variables \dot{x}, x and t. Thus, the forces in the equations of motion $\ddot{x} = F_1(\dot{x}, x, t)$ and $\ddot{x} = F_2(\dot{x}, x, t)$ are always dissipative. Therefore, based on the presented results, we conclude that non-standard null Lagrangians can be used to introduce dissipative forces to dynamical systems.

5.3 Galilean Invariance of Dissipative Forces

As already demonstrated in section 3.1.2, the Galilean group of the metric is composed of rotations, translations, and boosts between two inertial frames of reference. The results presented in section 3.1.2 showed that the NSL given by Eq. (3.2) is Galilean invariant but the other NSL given by Eq. (3.3) is not. Following Segovia, Vestal & Musielak (2022), Galilean invariance of forces obtained in section 5.2 is now considered.

Let (x, t) be an inertial frame moving at a constant velocity, V_0 , with respect to a second inertial frame, (x', t'), and let their origins coincide at $t = t' = t_0$. Thus, there are the following transformations between the systems: $x' = x - V_0 t$ and t' = t. By applying these transformations to the law of inertia $\ddot{x} = 0$, it is seen that Newton's first law is Galilean invariant. However, its standard Lagrangian is not Galilean invariant (e.g., Landau & Lifschitz 1969; Lévy-Leblond 1969) and it requires a special procedure that involves standard null Lagrangians to restore its Galilean invariance (Musielak & Watson 2020a). Let us now investigate Galilean invariance of the non-standard Lagrangian for the law of inertia (see section 3.1.2) and written here as

$$L_{ns}(\dot{x}, x, t) = \frac{1}{C_1 f^2(t) [f(t)\dot{x} - a_o x + C_2]} , \qquad (5.21)$$

where $f(t) = a_o t + v_o$. After the Galilean transformation, this Lagrangian becomes

$$L'_{ns}[\dot{x}'(t'), x'(t'), t'] = \frac{1}{C'_1 f'^2(t')[f'(t')\dot{x}'(t) - a'_o x'(t') + C'_2 + v'_o V_0]}$$
(5.22)

Galilean invariance of $L_{ns}(\dot{x}, x, t)$ requires that its form is the same as $L'_{ns}[\dot{x}'(t'), x'(t'), t']$. For the original and transformed Lagrangians to be of the same form in the variables x(t) and x'(t'), the following conditions must be satisfied: (i) f'(t') = f(t), which requires that $a'_o = a_o$ and $v'_o = v_o$; further, it is also required that t' = t, as guaranteed by the Galilean transformation; (ii) $C'_1 = C_1$ is satisfied in all inertial frames; and (iii) $C'_2 + v_o V_0 = C_2$ to be valid for all Galilean observers.

Since a_o and v_o are the integration constants for the auxiliary equation (Musielak 2021), and C_1 and C_2 are the constants of integration for the law of inertia, these constants are determined by the initial conditions to be specified for a physical problem to be solved. However, both the auxiliary equation and the law of inertia are Galilean invariant; thus, the solutions to these equations must also be the same (Galilean invariant) for all Galilean observers. The latter is equivalent to the requirement that the specified initial conditions are also the same for all Galilean observers, which validates the above conditions (i) and (ii). The condition (iii) shows that $C'_2 \neq C_2$ and that the constant C'_2 must be modified by adding another constant v_oV_0 to it as compared to C_2 . This addition is known in advance by all Galilean observers, who by their definition already agreed on the Galilean invariance. Therefore, the non-standard Lagrangian for the law of inertia given by Eq. (3.2) is Galilean invariant, which distinguishes it from the standard Lagrangian, whose original form is not Galilean invariant (e.g., Landau & Lifschitz 1969; Lévy-Leblond 1969).

Having demonstrated the Galilean invariance of the law of inertia and its nonstandard Lagrangian (see section 3.1.2), we now check the Galilean invariance of the equations of motion $\ddot{x} = F_1(\dot{x}, x, t)$ and $\ddot{x} = F_2(\dot{x}, x, t)$. It is easy to verify that neither $F_1(\dot{x}, x, t)$ nor $F_2(\dot{x}, x, t)$ is Galilean invariant because they are dissipative forces that depend explicitly on both \dot{x} and x. Thus, the Galilean invariance is lost when the law of inertia is converted into the second law of dynamics.

The above results demonstrate that dissipative forces in dynamics can also be defined using non-standard null Lagrangians, which is a novel way to view forces and it significantly extends the previous work on standard null Lagrangians that were used to introduce non-dissipative forces to dynamics (Musielak & Watson 2020a,b; Musielak & Vestal et al. 2020; Vestal & Musielak 2021). The presented results also show that the non-standard Lagrangian for the law of inertia preserves its Galilean invariance, which makes it different from the standard Lagrangian, whose Galilean invariance must be fixed by using a special procedure that involves standard null Lagrangians. The presented results give novel insight into the role played by nonstandard Lagrangians and non-standard null Lagrangians, which seem to be more suitable for describing damped dynamical systems, while standard Lagrangians and standard null Lagrangians seem to be more applicable to undamped dynamical systems.

It must be also pointed out that the results presented were obtained within the framework of classical mechanics, and that they can be extended to quantum fields as is shown in Chapter 6.

5.4 Relationships Between Null and Non-standard Lagrangians

The results presented in my dissertation must also be considered in the context of the recent developments in theories of null Lagrangians described by Das & Musielak (2022, 2023). According to these authors, there is a natural mapping between the NLs and NSLs, and this mapping becomes a method to generate NSLs when NLs are known. Actually, the generated NSLs, when substituted into the E-L equation, give equations of motion by using the following condition

$$\frac{d}{dt}\left[L_{null}(\dot{x}, x, t)\right] = 0.$$
(5.23)

An interesting result is that any null Lagrangian $L_{null}(\dot{x}, x, t)$ gives its equation of motion, which means that each null Lagrangian derived in this dissertation has the resulting equation of motion (see section 2.3.3). As already pointed out by Das and Musielak (2022, 2023), the main advantage of Eq. (5.23) is that its form is much simpler than the E-L equation, which means that it is easier to derive an equation of motion. However, its disadvantage is that the resulting equation of motion must be in a form that obeys a special relationship among the coefficients of this equation; the relationship is unique for a given dynamical system but varies for different systems.

Indeed, I performed preliminary studies by substituting the NLs obtained in this dissertation into the above condition, and found out that the resulting equations of motion were different than the original ones, and that there were special relationships between the coefficients of these equations. This is consistent with the examples presented by Das & Musielak (2022, 2023), who discussed those relationships and suggested possible solutions. Nevertheless, the problem of finding a null Lagrangian whose substitution into Eq. (5.23) would result in the originally given equation of motion still remains unsolved; thus, this problem is proposed as a future activity in the field of research of null Lagrangians and gauge functions.

5.5 Chapter Summary

In this chapter, I introduced non-standard null Lagrangians and showed how the formalism developed in Chapter 4 can be extended to also include this lesserknown family of Lagrangians. I presented a variety of applications of NLs, including a way to introduce dissipative forces by way of the non-standard gauge functions, and I discussed Galilean invariance of these forces.

In section 5.1, it was shown how to construct NSNLs and their corresponding NSGFs, and then in the section following, how to use them to introduce dissipative forces to classical dynamics. The presented results significantly extended the previous work on standard null Lagrangians, wherein they were used to introduce forces to dynamics (eg. Musielak et al., 2020; Vestal & Musielak, 2021). Further, the results described in this chapter give novel insight into the role played by non-standard Lagrangians and non-standard null Lagrangians, which seem to be more suitable for describing damped dynamical systems, while standard Lagrangians and standard null Lagrangians seem to be more applicable to undamped dynamical systems.

The chapter concludes with newly discovered relationships between non-standard Lagrangians and standard and non-standard null Lagrangians, which give new insight into mathematical and physical connections between these diverse Lagrangians.

CHAPTER 6

The Role of Null Lagrangians in Quantum Mechanics

In this chapter, the role of null Lagrangians for quantum mechanical systems will be investigated and discussed. I start by describing relevant previous work and background information. Following this, I will present my work on developing a formalism for the construction of null Lagrangians for quantum fields, which, to the best of my knowledge, has not yet been done for such fields. The Galilean invariance of the Schrödinger equation will then be discussed, and a key difference in the Schrödinger equation and its Lagrangian is highlighted.

Studies of null Lagrangians and gauge functions presented in this dissertation in Chapters 4 and 5, as well as those done previously in mathematics and described in Section 2.3.3, were mainly performed for systems given by first and second-order ODEs (e.g., Krupka 1973, 1977; Olver 1983; Olver & Sivaloganatham 1988; Crampin & Saunders 2005; Krupka et al. 2010; Olver 2022; and others). As pointed out by Krupka & Musilova (1998), the problem of finding all existing null Lagrangians and their gauge functions for all ODEs of a given order is one of the most difficult problems in variational calculus. Most previous work done by mathematicians concentrated on first-order ODEs; however, all the results presented in Chapters 4 and 5 of this dissertation deal with second-order ODEs and are therefore complementary to the previous investigations. Another important difference between previous studies and the work described in this dissertation is that the latter considers exclusively systems of physical interest, whereas the mathematicians investigated general systems without making any reference to their physical meaning. A seminal paper on defining null Lagrangians for classical fields, which are characterized by many degrees of freedom and are described by first and second-order PDEs, was published by Hojman (1983). In the following work, Krupka & Musilova (1998), Grigorge (1999), Crampin & Saunders (2005), and Thieme (2020) studied null Lagrangians in classical field theories. To the best of my knowledge, studies of null Lagrangians in quantum field theories have not yet been done, which means that the results presented in this chapter are the first of such attempts. The main goal of this chapter is to construct first null Lagrangians and their gauge functions for nonrelativistic QM, and to then use these to investigate the Galilean invariance of the Schrödinger equation and its Lagrangians. It is my hope that the presented results initiate more future work in this exciting field of study of null Lagrangians and gauge functions.

6.1 Method to Construct Null Lagrangians for Quantum Fields

Despite some work done by mathematicians (e.g., Hojman 1983; Krupka & Musilova 1998; Grigorge 1999; Crampin & Saunders 2005; Thieme 2020) for classical fields, construction of null Lagrangians and their gauge functions specifically for quantum mechanical fields has not yet been done. The results presented in this section will generalize my results from Chapters 4 and 5 to quantum fields, with special applications to the Schrödinger equation of QM.

As shown in section (2.3.3), the two main characteristics of NLs are: (i) they must yield from applying the E-L operator (see Eq. 2.1) identically zero, and (ii) there must exist a scalar function (called a gauge function) whose total derivative is equal to a given NL. In other words, any NL must have these two properties. In the following, my method to construct NLs is based on these two characteristics. However, the results presented below show that the construction of NLs must be done with caution because, in addition to mathematical constraints, there are also physical constraints, which are typically ignored by mathematicians.

Let $\eta(\vec{r}, t)$ be a scalar wave function that represents a quantum field. It is easy to show that the following null Lagrangians can be constructed

$$L_{n1} = C_1 \eta \partial_t \eta , \qquad (6.1)$$

where C_1 is an arbitrary (real or imaginary) constant and its gauge function is $\chi_1 = C_1 \eta^2/2$, and

$$L_{n2} = C_2 \eta \partial_x \eta . ag{6.2}$$

with C_2 being another arbitrary constant and the gauge function given by $\chi_1 = C_2 \eta^2/2$; note that ∂_x represents the three spatial coordinates (x, y, z). Substituting these Lagrangians into the following E-L equation

$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial \eta} - \partial_t \frac{\partial L}{\partial (\partial_t \eta)} - \nabla \frac{\partial L}{\partial (\partial_x \eta)} = 0 , \qquad (6.3)$$

it is confirmed that both L_{n1} and L_{n2} are null Lagrangians.

Since null Lagrangians vanish under the E-L operator, multiple can be added together without changing the resulting equation of motion from the E-L, as was done in Chapter 4. Let us now add Eq. (6.1) and Eq. (6.2) together,

$$L_{n3} = L_{n1} + L_{n2} (6.4)$$

This is allowed as $\hat{EL}(L_{n1}) = 0$ and $\hat{EL}(L_{n2}) = 0$, thus, $\hat{EL}(L_{n1} + L_{n2}) = 0$, satisfying the first condition for a null Lagrangian. The same can be done with the gauge functions, which are known. However, the addition of gauge functions causes a problem with physical units, which must be fixed before the results are applied to physical systems. In other words, the addition of L_{n1} and L_{n2} to produce L_{n3} is not equivalent to the addition of their corresponding gauge functions $\chi_3 = \chi_1 + \chi_2$ since the constants C_1 and C_2 have different units. This illustrates the importance of looking at these systems from a physical perspective, which is required to fix this physical unit problem.

With this in mind, taking a closer look at Eq. (6.4), which becomes

$$L_{n3} = C_1 \eta \partial_t \eta + C_2 \eta \partial_x \eta , \qquad (6.5)$$

it is apparent that this Lagrangian is also physically inconsistent due to the lack of agreement in the units. Let us now refine our approach so as to find a method to construct physically consistent null Lagrangians and their gauge functions, along with the E-L equation for the systems.

To fix the units in Eq. (6.5), let us write,

$$L_n = c(\eta \partial_t \eta + \eta (\vec{v} \cdot \nabla) \eta) , \qquad (6.6)$$

where \vec{v} is velocity of inertial frames in Galilean relativity; note that this velocity remains constant for Galilean observers, which means that it can be used to fix the unit problem, similarly to what was done in the special theory of relativity by the speed of light. The E-L equation then becomes,

$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial \eta} - \partial_t \frac{\partial L}{\partial (\partial_t \eta)} - (\vec{v} \cdot \nabla) \frac{\partial L}{\partial (\vec{v} \cdot \nabla \eta)} = 0 .$$
(6.7)

Starting with the gauge function,

$$\chi = c \frac{1}{2} \eta^2 , \qquad (6.8)$$

and taking the total derivative,

$$\frac{d\chi}{dt} = \frac{\partial\chi}{\partial t} + (\frac{\partial\chi}{\partial\eta})(\partial_t\eta) + (\frac{\partial\chi}{\partial\eta})(\vec{v}\cdot\nabla)\eta , \qquad (6.9)$$

we recover Eq. (6.6), which is indeed a null Lagrangian, as can be verified using Eq. (6.7).

Further, it is possible to construct another, simpler null Lagrangian, L_{n4} , from the gauge function $\chi_4 = c\eta$. Using Eq. (6.9), the corresponding null Lagrangian is found to be

$$L_{n4} = c(\partial_t \eta + (\vec{v} \cdot \nabla)\eta) . \qquad (6.10)$$

It can be confirmed that Eq. (6.10) is a null Lagrangian using Eq. (6.7). Thus, we have constructed two physically consistent null Lagrangians for fields, Eqs (6.6) and 6.10, along with their corresponding gauge functions.

6.2 Galilean Invariance of Schrödinger Equation and its Phase Factor

As already described in Section 3.1.2, in Galilean space-time there are two metrics, given by $ds_1^2 = dx^2 + dy^2 + dz^2$ and $ds_2^2 = dt^2$, where x, y and z are spatial coordinates and t is time. The group of all allowed rotations, translations, and boosts is known as the Galilean group of the metric (Levy-Leblond 1963, 1967); its mathematical structure is given and discussed in Section 3.1.2, and it will not be repeated here. As demonstrated by Bargmann & Wigner (1954), and then by Levy-Leblond (1967, 1969), the Lie algebra associated with the Galilean group of the metric can be extended and to become the so-called extended Galilean group, whose mathematical structure is

$$G_e = [R(3) \otimes_s B(3)] \otimes_s [T(3+1) \otimes U(1)]$$
(6.11)

where R(3) and B(3) are subgroups of rotations and boosts, respectively. In addition, T(3+1) is a subgroup of translations in space and time and U(1) is a one-parameter unitary group, and \otimes is a direct product and \otimes_s represents a semi-direct product. It is important to point out that the presence of the subgroup U(1) in G_e guarantees that the square of the absolute value of the Schrödinger wave function remains the same for all Galilean observers, as is required by QM. The group G_e is the universal covering group of the Galilei group of the metric G (see Section 3.1.2), and it is used to demonstrate Galilean invariance of the Schrödinger equation (e.g., Merzbacher 1998; van Oosten 2006; Musielak & Fry 2009; Fry & Musielak 2010). As those authors showed, the Schrödinger equation is invariant with respect to all Galilean rotations and translations. However, the requirement that the Schrödinger equation be invariant with respect to Galilean boosts involves a phase factor, which is now derived.

In Galilean space-time, a boost is defined by the change of coordinate

$$\vec{r}' = \vec{r} - \vec{v}t$$
 and $t' = t$, (6.12)

which gives

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial t'} = \frac{\partial}{\partial t} + \vec{v} \cdot \nabla \text{ and } \nabla' = \nabla.$$
(6.13)

Let us now apply these Galilean boost transformations to the Schrödinger equation for a free elementary particle, as given in its standard form

$$i \frac{\partial \psi(\vec{r},t)}{\partial t} + \frac{\hbar}{2m} \nabla^2 \psi(\vec{r},t) = 0.$$
 (6.14)

For this equation to be Galilean invariant, its transformed form must be given by

$$i \frac{\partial \psi'(\vec{r}',t')}{\partial t'} + \frac{\hbar}{2m} \nabla'^2 \psi'(\vec{r}',t') = 0 , \qquad (6.15)$$

where $\psi(\vec{r}, t) - \phi(\vec{r'}, t')\psi'(\vec{r'}, t')$, with $\phi(\vec{r'}, t')$ being an arbitrary function to be determined in such a way that Eqs (6.14) and (6.15) are of the same form. This requires that the following condition is satisfied

$$\left(i\frac{\partial\phi}{\partial t'} - i\vec{v}\cdot\nabla'\phi + \frac{\hbar}{2m}\nabla'^2\phi\right)\psi' + \left(\frac{\hbar}{m}\nabla'\phi - i\vec{v}\phi\right)\cdot(\nabla'\psi') = 0.$$
(6.16)

Since $\psi' \neq 0$ and $\nabla' \psi' \neq 0$ for all \vec{r}' and t', the condition reduces to

$$i\frac{\partial\phi}{\partial t'} - i\vec{v}\cdot\nabla'\phi + \frac{\hbar}{2m}\nabla'^2\phi = 0 , \qquad (6.17)$$

and

$$\frac{\hbar}{m}\nabla'\phi - i\vec{v}\phi = 0. ag{6.18}$$

which can be used to determine $\phi(\vec{r}', t')$.

From Eqs (6.17) and (6.18), one finds

$$\phi(\vec{r}\,',t') = \phi_0 \ e^{im\left(\vec{v}\cdot\vec{r}\,'+\frac{1}{2}v^2t'\right)/\hbar} \ , \tag{6.19}$$

where ϕ_0 is an integration constant. The existence of the phase function $\phi(\vec{r}', t')$ is an important result because it demonstrates that Schrödinger equation is Galilean invariant and that the explicit form of the transformation law for the state functions $\psi(\vec{r}, t)$ and $\psi'(\vec{r}', t')$ can be derived. Taking $\phi_0 = 1$, the transformation law becomes

$$\psi(\vec{r},t) = \psi(\vec{r}' + \vec{v}t',t') = \psi'(\vec{r}',t') e^{im(\vec{v}\cdot\vec{r}' + \frac{1}{2}v^2t')/\hbar} .$$
(6.20)

The obtained result is well-known and it can be found in advanced QM textbooks (e.g., Merzbacher 1998); this result was also used by different authors in their studies of the origin of the Schrödinger equation from the point of view of group theory (e.g., van Oosten 2006; Musielak & Fry 2009; Fry & Musielak 2010).

The presence of the phase factor in the transformed wave function implies that the wave functions for different Galilean observers have different forms because $\phi(\vec{r}', t')$ changes from one inertial frame to another. Notably, this does not violate the Galilean invariance of the Schrödinger equation as QM only requires that $|\psi(\vec{r}, t)|^2 = |\psi'(\vec{r}', t')|^2$, since it is consistent with the presence of the subgroup U(1)in G_e and it is the basis for all measurements in QM.

6.3 Galilean Invariance of the Schrödinger Lagrangian

As shown in the previous section, the Schrödinger equation is Galilean invariant and this invariance requires a phase function, whose explicit form is given by Eq. (6.20). Recall from section 3.1.2 that while Newton's law of inertia is Galilean invariant, its Lagrangian is not (e.g., Landau & Lifschitz 1969; Lévy-Leblond 1969); however, its Galilean invariance can be restored, as shown by Musielak & Watson (2020a).

Now, I will investigate the Galilean invariance of the Schrödinger Lagrangian, which can be written as (e.g., Daughty 1990; Merzbacher 1998)

$$L_s(\psi,\psi^*,\partial_t\psi,\partial_t\psi^*,\nabla\psi,\nabla\psi^*) = -\frac{\hbar}{2m}(\nabla\psi^*)\cdot(\nabla\psi) + i\frac{1}{2}(\psi^*\partial_t\psi - \psi\partial_t\psi^*) , \quad (6.21)$$

where ψ^* is the conjugate of ψ , *m* is mass of an elementary particle described by the equation. As most available QM textbooks do not discuss the Galilean invariance of the Schrödinger Lagrangian, in the following I will demonstrate that the Lagrangian is Galilean invariant and that this has some implications for my research, which is presented in sections 6.4 and 6.5.

Substituting $L_s(\psi, \psi^*, \partial_t \psi, \partial_t \psi^*, \nabla \psi, \nabla \psi^*)$ into the Euler-Lagrangian

$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial \psi^*} - \partial_t \left(\frac{\partial L}{\partial (\partial \psi^*)} \right) - \nabla \cdot \left(\frac{\partial L}{\partial (\nabla \psi^*)} \right) = 0 , \qquad (6.22)$$

yields the Schrödinger equation for the wave function ψ

$$i\partial_t \psi + \frac{\hbar}{2m} \nabla^2 \psi = 0 . ag{6.23}$$

However, the Schrödinger equation for the conjugate wave function is obtained when ψ^* in the E-L equation is replaced by ψ (e.g., Daughty 1990).

As Galilean invariance requires that $L_s = L'_s$, where

$$L'_{s}(\psi',\psi'^{*},\partial_{t}\psi',\partial_{t}\psi'^{*},\nabla\psi',\nabla\psi'^{*}) = -\frac{\hbar}{2m}(\nabla'\psi'^{*})\cdot(\nabla'\psi') + i\frac{1}{2}(\psi'^{*}\partial_{t'}\psi'-\psi'\partial_{t'}\psi'^{*}),$$
(6.24)

we must now compute L'_s . To do this, let $\nabla = \nabla'$, $\hbar = const.$, m = const., $\partial_{t'} = \partial_t + \vec{v} \cdot \nabla$, $\vec{r'} = \vec{r} - \vec{v}t$, t = t' and

$$\psi(\vec{r},t) = \psi(\vec{r}',\vec{t}')e^{im\vec{v}\cdot(\vec{r}'+\frac{1}{2}\vec{v}t')/\hbar} .$$
(6.25)

For simplicity of calculation, let us also define

$$\alpha = \frac{m}{\hbar} (\vec{v} \cdot \vec{r'} + \frac{1}{2} \vec{v}^2 t') , \qquad (6.26)$$

and use

$$\psi(\vec{r},t) = \psi'(\vec{r}',t')e^{i\alpha}$$
, (6.27)

and

$$\psi^*(\vec{r},t) = \psi'^*(\vec{r}',t')e^{-i\alpha} .$$
(6.28)

Taking the gradient of $e^{i\alpha}$, it is found that

$$\nabla' e^{i\alpha} = i \frac{m\vec{v}}{\hbar} e^{i\alpha} . \tag{6.29}$$

We first find that

$$\partial_t \psi = (\partial_{t'} - \vec{v} \cdot \nabla)(\psi' e^{i\alpha}) , \qquad (6.30)$$

which becomes

$$\psi^* \partial_t \psi = (\partial_{t'} \psi' - (\vec{v} \cdot \nabla') \psi' + i \psi' \partial_{t'} \alpha - i \psi' (\vec{v} \cdot \nabla') \alpha) e^{i\alpha} .$$
(6.31)

Using this, we then find that

$$\psi^* \partial_t \psi = \psi'^* \partial_{t'} \psi' - \psi'^* (\vec{v} \cdot \nabla') \psi' + i (\partial_{t'} \alpha - (\vec{v} \cdot \nabla') \alpha) \psi' \psi'^*$$
(6.32)

and the remaining terms are found similarly.

Making the substitutions and comparing the result to Eq. (6.21), we find

$$L'_{s} = L_{s} + ET_{1} + ET_{2} , \qquad (6.33)$$
89

where ET_1 and ET_2 are the terms additional to L'_s that were not present in L_s , and are defined as

$$ET_1 = i\frac{1}{2}(\psi'(\vec{v}\cdot\nabla')\psi'^* - \psi'^*(\vec{v}\cdot\nabla')\psi') + \frac{1}{2}\frac{m}{\hbar}v^2\psi'\psi'^* , \qquad (6.34)$$

and

$$ET_2 = -i\frac{1}{2}(\psi'(\vec{v}\cdot\nabla')\psi'^* - \psi'^*(\vec{v}\cdot\nabla')\psi') - \frac{1}{2}\frac{m}{\hbar}v^2\psi'\psi'^* .$$
(6.35)

However, looking more closely at ET_1 and ET_2 , we see that the terms exactly cancel, and L_s is found to be equal to L'_s . This shows that the Schrödinger Lagrangian is indeed Galilean invariant.

6.4 Schrödinger Lagrangian and its Null Lagrangians

Since the Schrödinger equation is parabolic, its Lagrangian must be a combination of the wavefunction ψ and its conjugate, which is the only way to write Lagrangians for this type of partial differential equation (e.g., Daughty 1990). It is clear from looking at the form of the Lagrangian in Eq. (6.21) that the NLs developed in section 6.1 are not compatible with it, as they only depend on the scalar (gauge) function η and not on its conjugate. Therefore, the results presented in section 6.1 must be now generalized by also taking into account complex gauge functions and their conjugates. In the following, I describe a method to construct such NLs and their gauge functions by using the results of section 6.1.

The null Lagrangian given by Eq. (6.6) can be generalized as

$$L_{n1} = C_1[\eta(\partial_t \eta^*) + \eta^*(\partial_t \eta) + \eta(\vec{v} \cdot \nabla \eta^*) + \eta^*(\vec{v} \cdot \nabla \eta)], \qquad (6.36)$$

with the corresponding gauge function $\chi_1 = C_1 \eta \eta^*$, and C_1 being any (real or imaginary) constant. Since χ_1 is now a function of both η and η^* , its total derivative must be calculated by using

$$\frac{d\chi_1}{dt} = \frac{\partial\chi_1}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial\chi_1}{\partial\eta}(\partial_t\eta) + \frac{\partial\chi_1}{\partial\eta}(\vec{v}\cdot\nabla\eta) + \frac{\partial\chi_1}{\partial\eta^*}(\partial_t\eta^*) + \frac{\partial\chi_1}{\partial\eta^*}(\vec{v}\cdot\nabla\eta^*) .$$
(6.37)

Substitution of χ_1 into this equation gives the Lagrangian L_{n1} . It must be noted that χ_1 does not depend on time explicitly, but only through the time-dependence of the functions η and η^* .

Now, using the results of section 6.1, the E-L equation can be written as

$$\frac{\partial L}{\partial \eta} - \partial_t \frac{\partial L}{\partial (\partial_t \eta)} - (\vec{v} \cdot \nabla) \frac{\partial L}{\partial (\vec{v} \cdot \nabla \eta)} = 0 , \qquad (6.38)$$

with the understanding that there is the complementary E-L equation written for η^* . Substitution of $L = L_{n1}$ into these two E-L equations yields two different null Lagrangians, similar to the way in which the Schrödinger Lagrangian (see Eq. 6.21) gives two different Schrödinger equations, one for ψ and the other for ψ^* as discussed in section 6.3.

If $\eta \neq \eta(t)$, then L_{n1} reduces to L_{n2} as given by

$$L_{n2} = C_1[\eta(\vec{v} \cdot \nabla \eta^*) + \eta^*(\vec{v} \cdot \nabla \eta)] , \qquad (6.39)$$

which is also a null Lagrangian. An interesting result is that an even simpler null Lagrangian can be constructed by taking only

$$L_{n3} = C_2[(\vec{v} \cdot \nabla \eta^*) + (\vec{v} \cdot \nabla \eta)], \qquad (6.40)$$

where C_2 may be a different constant than C_1 because its physical units are different.

The results obtained above can now be directly related to the Schrödinger equation by taking $\eta = \psi$ and $\eta^* = \psi^*$. Then, each of the null Lagrangians L_{n1} , L_{n2} , and L_{n3} , or a combination of all of them, can be added to the Schrödinger Lagrangian given by Eq. (6.21); the resulting Schrödinger equation will be of the same form, which is an expected result. However, some of our previously obtained results (e.g., Musielak & Watson 2020a,b; Musielak & Vestal et al. 2020; Vestal & Musielak 2021; Vestal & Musielak 2023) demonstrated that null Lagrangians and their gauge functions can be used to restore Galilean invariance, and introduce forces and nonlinearities. In the following, I discuss some possible applications of the derived null Lagrangians and gauge functions to QM, and specifically to the Schrödinger equation.

6.5 Null Lagrangians and Schrödinger Phase Factor

The results presented in sections 6.2 and 6.3 show that both the Schrödinger equation and its Lagrangian are Galilean invariant, and that this invariance requires a phase factor. The presence of the phase factor implies that solutions to the Schrödinger equation are different in different inertial frames, which may be interpreted as a violation of Galilean invariance in QM. However, this is not the case because the Schrödinger wavefunction being a complex function in the Hilbert space cannot be directly measured experimentally; the only measurements that are allowed are those that are of the square of the absolute value of the function, which remain the same for all Galilean observers.

From a theoretical point of view, it would be interesting to explore possibility of achieving Galilean invariance for the Schrödinger equation and its Lagrangian without the phase factor but instead with help of the derived null Lagrangians and their gauge functions. Let us assume that the phase factor $\alpha = 0$, which reduces Eq. (6.34) to

$$ET_1 = i\frac{1}{2}(\psi'(\vec{v}\cdot\nabla')\psi'^* - \psi'^*(\vec{v}\cdot\nabla')\psi') .$$
(6.41)

Let us also replace $\eta = \psi'$ and $\eta^* = \psi'^*$ in Eq. (6.39) and obtain

$$L_{n2} = C_1[\psi'(\vec{v} \cdot \nabla'\psi'^*) + \psi'^*(\vec{v} \cdot \nabla\psi')] .$$
 (6.42)

Comparison of these two equations shows that the terms in ET_1 are very similar to those in L_{n2} but there is a sign difference between the second term in the equations. The consequences of this sign difference are significant as it shows that the addition of L_{n2} cannot remove the extra terms resulting from the Galilean transformations. Thus, my main result of this study is that the constructed null Lagrangians cannot be used to remove the phase factor from the formulation of QM based on the Schrödinger equation.

To further explore the relationship between null Lagrangians and the Schrödinger phase factor, I assume that $\eta = e^{i\alpha}$ and $\eta^* = e^{-i\alpha}$; this is allowed as the results obtained in sections 6.1 and 6.4 are valid for any η as long as it is a scalar function. By making these substitutions to the equations for L_{n1} , L_{n2} and L_{n3} in section 6.4, it is demonstrated that $L_{n1} = L_{n2} = L_{n3} = 0$; this means that the phase factor causes all of the constructed null Lagrangians to vanish and forces their corresponding gauge functions each to simply be constants.

The main conclusion from these results is that the Schrödinger phase factor eliminates all null Lagrangians constructed for the Schrödinger equation; rather, the main terms of these null Lagrangians resemble the terms in the Schrödinger Lagrangian. Thus, the obtained results allow me to formulate (without proof) the following final conjecture.

Conjecture : All null Lagrangians constructed for the Schrödinger wavefunction and its conjugate can be eliminated by the Schrödinger phase factor, which means that null Lagrangians cannot affect the Galilean invariance of quantum mechanics. However, the null Lagrangians and their gauge functions may be used to introduce different potentials to the Schrödinger equation as well as to make the equation nonlinear (e.g., Karjanto, 2019). Both topics are out of the scope of this dissertation and they will be explored as future research projects.

6.6 Summary and Future Work

While null Lagrangians have been investigated mathematically, in section 6.1 it was shown that a null Lagrangian can be mathematically consistent while also being inconsistent in its physical units. Further, a formalism for constructing null Lagrangians for fields was developed, taking into account units; this method ensures that the resulting null Lagrangians and gauge functions are physical - a necessary distinction and requirement for developing the framework of null Lagrangians for systems in physics.

In section 6.3, it was shown that the Schrödinger Lagrangian is Galilean invariant. This result is significant as the Galilean invariance of the Schrödinger equation does not guarantee the invariance of its Lagrangian, as was discussed earlier for the Law of Inertia in section 3.1.

The method in section 6.1 was generalized in section 6.4 by also taking into account complex gauge functions and their conjugates; these Lagrangians could be added to systems like the Schrödinger Lagrangian and remain physically consistent. As presented in previous chapters, the addition of a null Lagrangian can be sufficient to convert an undriven system to a driven one, introduce nonlinearities, or restore Galilean invariance (see Musielak & Watson 2020a,b; Musielak & Vestal et al. 2020; Vestal & Musielak 2021; Vestal & Musielak 2023), making this a compelling step forward for the application of null Lagrangians to systems in QM. In section 6.5, the phase factor required by the Schrödinger equation to ensure Galilean invariance was
discussed and investigated. It was found that it is not possible to remove this term and replace it instead with a null Lagrangian while maintaining Galilean invariance.

The null Lagrangians developed in this chapter may well have further applications to systems in QM, just as those in prior chapters did for dynamics, and in this way they may open new doors to areas of research into quantum phenomena and shed light on underlying phenomena as of yet not understood.

CHAPTER 7

Discussion and Conclusions

The primary goal of this dissertation is to communicate the impact and potential of null Lagrangians for applications in physics, as well as the work that has been done in this area of research. As null Lagrangians have not been explored to nearly the same extent as their standard counterparts in physics, they are a natural starting point in searching for new insight into physical phenomena and underlying symmetries in our physical universe. In this dissertation, a method was presented for introducing forces to a system that is an alternative to the way in which this was done by Newton over 300 years ago. By way of the gauge functions corresponding to null Lagrangians, force arises from the physical system rather than later being added. This elegant method has been shown also to be capable of converting a linear system to one that is nonlinear.

The null Lagrangian formalism was developed first for systems in classical mechanics, with an application to the simple harmonic oscillator; it was then extended to dissipative systems. As this formalism is not confined to classical dynamics, it was also formulated for systems in quantum mechanics, building out the framework of null Lagrangians for physical systems. This work was done with physical systems in mind.

It was shown how known forces and the gauge functions corresponding to null Lagrangians are directly linked. A method to find the gauge function to introduce a given force in dynamics was presented. Further, this formalism was extended to nonlinearities, and nonlinearities and forces of key interest in physics were included as examples. A primary result of this work was to show that the addition of a null Lagrangian to a standard Lagrangian for a given system is sufficient to convert an undriven, conservative system to a driven system. Using the equations and methods developed herein to consider additional forces in physics, as well as in other fields of science, is suggested as a compelling area of future work.

The null Lagrangian formalism was then also extended to non-standard null Lagrangians, adding to knowledge of the role of null Lagrangians for physical systems and opening another area of possible future work. The development of a formalism for non-standard null Lagrangians is an additional key result of this dissertation. Gauge functions, corresponding to null Lagrangians, were also found for equations with solutions that are special functions that play significant roles in mathematical physics.

Not all null Lagrangians are physically meaningful, and, as was shown explicitly in Chapter 6, not all null Lagrangians are physically consistent; the presented results demonstrate how to restore their consistency for some systems. To the best of our knowledge, the null Lagrangians in Chapter 6 are the first null Lagrangians that have been formulated for systems in quantum mechanics; this contribution is a key result of this dissertation.

As with null Lagrangians, non-standard Lagrangians have been less of an area of focus for physical systems. However, they may also aid us in reaching a deeper understanding of physical phenomena. As was shown herein, the non-standard Lagrangian formulation of the law of inertia preserves its Galilean invariance, which is notably different from the standard Lagrangian formulation; this is another notable result of this work.

This dissertation is meant to be considered part of the starting point for what I believe to be a very promising area of research in physics. Null Lagrangians in particular have been investigated almost entirely within the field of mathematics thus far. Using this special family of Lagrangians for applications to systems in physics requires that we consider only physically consistent equations and physically meaningful applications. Rather, a mathematical treatment of these equations is not sufficient to investigate the full picture of the role that null Lagrangians play in physics. In this dissertation, I have instead approached null Lagrangians from a physical perspective.

As presented in section 4.6, the addition of a null Lagrangian is sufficient to convert an undriven system to a driven one; further, the addition of a gauge function allows for a force to arise naturally from a system without contributing to its equation of motion by way of the E-L equation. In section 4.5, it was shown that this method is capable of perfectly reproducing various known forces. As much of our physical universe is not yet understood, investigating underlying symmetries, such as the way gauge terms are able to introduce forces and nonlinearities to a system, may shed light on such phenomena. Viewing physical phenomena through this new lens may be the key to new connections and compelling discoveries. What else might we be missing by not investigating our physical world, and any underlying symmetries, further through the lens of these powerful tools?

This dissertation is not meant to fully encapsulate the role of null Lagrangians in physics. Rather, the work presented herein comprises what I hope will become the first step in a larger body of work exploring the role of null and non-standard Lagrangians for physical systems.

CHAPTER 8

Future Work

8.1 Gauge Functions and Canonical Transformations

A primary objective of this dissertation is to study gauge functions, and their corresponding null Lagrangians, within the framework of the Lagrangian formalism and its role in Classical Mechanics. As a result, canonical transformations and their generating functions, which involve Hamiltonians and Hamilton's equations, are not directly discussed in this work. Nevertheless, it is necessary to also comment on the general relationship between the gauge and generating functions, with the intention that this may set the direction for future studies.

Following Finn (2008), the extended action principle can be written as

$$\delta \int_{t_i}^{t_f} L(\dot{q}, q, \dot{p}, p, t) = 0 , \qquad (8.1)$$

where the Lagrangian is given by

$$L(\dot{q}, q, \dot{p}, p, t) = \dot{q}p - H(q, p, t) + \frac{dF(q, p, t)}{dt} , \qquad (8.2)$$

and with H(q, p, t) being the Hamiltonian and F(q, p, t) an arbitrary scalar function. It must be also noted that $\delta F(q, p, t)|_{t_i}^{t_f} = 0.$

Lagrangian dynamics allows for invertible point transformations q = q(Q, t), which can be extended to become canonical transformations $(q, p, t) \rightarrow (Q, P, t)$ of phase space; these transformations preserve the form of the Hamiltonian and Hamilton's equations. Moreover, the transformations also leave the Lagrangian invariant

$$\dot{q}p - H(q, p, t) + \frac{dF(q, p, t)}{dt} = \dot{Q}P - \tilde{H}(Q, P, t) + \frac{dF(Q, P, t)}{dt}$$
, (8.3)

which shows that both H(q, p, t) and F(q, p, t) are transformed to $\tilde{H}(q, p, t)$ and $\tilde{F}(q, p, t)$, respectively. Defining $G(q, p, Q, P, t) = \tilde{F}(Q, P, t) - F(q, p, t)$, Eq. (8.3) can then be written in the following form

$$\dot{q}p - H(q, p, t) = \dot{Q}P - \tilde{H}(Q, P, t) + \frac{dG(q, p, Q, P, t)}{dt}$$
, (8.4)

where G(q, p, Q, P, t) is called the generator of the canonical transformation or the generating function. In other words, a transformation $(q, p, t) \rightarrow (Q, P, t)$ is canonical if, and only if, the generating function exists.

The function G(q, p, Q, P, t) is the generator of a Legendre transformation between two coordinate systems, which are connected by expressing the function by some mixture of both coordinates. To find the generating function for a given dynamical system is the main goal of the Hamilton-Jacobi equation, which is valid only if the equation of motion is completely integrable.

Comparison of the generating functions to the gauge functions derived in this dissertation shows that there are important differences between them, and that these functions play different physical roles in classical dynamics. Nevertheless, the gauge functions obtained in this dissertation may be used to derive the generating functions for a given dynamical system and for performing canonical transformations between two coordinate systems used to describe the system. This is proposed as future work in which the Lagrangian formalism studied in this dissertation is extended to the Hamiltonian formalism and its canonical transformations.

8.2 Null Lagrangians for Systems in Quantum Mechanics

Another suggested area of future work is that of further investigating the role of null Lagrangians for systems in quantum mechanics. As null Lagrangians for quantum fields were constructed in Chapter 6, they can now be considered and modified for various additional quantum systems. For systems in classical mechanics, it was shown that the addition of a null Lagrangian allows for the introduction of a force or nonlinearity, for some, but not all, null Lagrangians. It is left as an area of future research what additional physical insight can be gained from investigating null Lagrangians for systems of interest in quantum mechanics beyond those discussed in this dissertation. The null Lagrangians developed in Chapter 6 do not constitute an exhaustive list of possible null Lagrangians for systems in quantum mechanics. As such, formulating other standard and non-standard null Lagrangians for such systems is left as a supplementary area of future work.

8.3 Additional Future Work

As discussed in Chapter 5, an as-of-yet unsolved problem is that of how to find a null Lagrangian whose substitution into Eq. (5.23) would yield the originally given equation of motion. Linking the equation of motion and gauge function in this way would be a significant result and this is proposed as a future area of research in the field of null Lagrangians and gauge functions.

An additional area of suggested future research is that of finding both standard and non-standard null Lagrangians for equations of special functions of key interest in mathematical physics beyond those covered in this dissertation. Lastly, applying the formalism that was developed in Chapter 4, yielding the results presented in sections 4.5 and 4.6, to other areas of science and engineering is also suggested as future work. This method is compelling in that its applications are not limited to systems in classical dynamics; rather, is it my hope that this formalism will be used to investigate applications to systems in other fields such as theoretical biology. APPENDIX A

In this appendix, we present a procedure for improving the bounds obtained by the application of Jensen's inequality. The methiod is based on the idea of reducing the thickness of a convex region into many thinner convex regions.

A.1 Convex Functions

A real valued function f is defined to be convex over an interval $\Omega = [\alpha, \beta]$ if

$$\lambda \Phi\{x_1\} + (1-\lambda)\Phi(x_2) \ge \Phi(\lambda x_1 + (1-\lambda)x_2\}.$$
(A.1)

If the above inequality is reversed or

$$\lambda \Phi(x_1) + (1 - \lambda) \Phi(x_2) \le \Phi(\lambda x_1 + (1 - \lambda) x_2), \tag{A.2}$$

then Φ is called concave.

A.2 Jensen's Inequality for Convex Functions

Let x be a random variable with a finite mean. If $\Phi(x)$ is real-valued convex function, then

$$E[\Phi(x)] \ge \Phi\left(E[x]\right) \tag{A.3}$$

where E[.] is the mathematical expectation.

REFERENCES

Abraham, R., & Marsden, J. E. 2008, Foundation of Mechanics, AMS Chelsea Publishing, Providence, RI

Anderson, D. R., Carlson, D. E., & Fried, J. 1999, J. Elasticity, 56, 35

Arnold, V. I. 1978, Mathematical Methods of Classical Mechanics, Springer, New York

Bagarello, F., Gargano, F., Roccati, F. 2019, Phys. Lett. A, 383, 2836–2838

Bagarello, F., Gargano, F., Roccati, F. 2020, Ann. Phys., 414, 168091

Ball, J.M., Currie, J.C., Olver, & P. J. 1981, Journal of Functional Analysis, 41, 2, 135-174

Bargmann, V. 1954, Ann. Math., 59, 1

Bateman, H. 1931, Phys. Rev., 38, 38815

Bayin, S. S. 2006, Mathematical Methods in Science and Engineering, Wiley

Caldirola, P. 1941, *Nuovo Cim.*, Forze non conservative nella meccanica quantista, 18, 393–400

Cantrell, C. D. 2000, Modern Mathematical Methods for Physicists and Engineers, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press

Cieśliński, J. L. & Nikiciuk, T. 2010, J. Phys. A Math. Theor., 43, 175205

Collins, V. P., Loeffler, R. K., & Tivey, H. 1956, Am J Roentgenol Radium Ther Nuc Med. 78, 988–1000

Crampin, M., & Saunders, D. J. 2005, Diff. Geom. Appl., 22, 131–146

Dange, A., Vestal, L. C., & Musielak, Z. E. 2021, *J. Undergrad. Rep. Phys.*, 31, 100001

Das, R., & Musielak, Z. E. 2023, Phys. Scr., 98, 045201

Das, R. & Musielak, Z. E. 2022, J. Math. Phys. (submitted)

Daughty, N. A. 1990, Lagrangian Interactions, Addison-Wesley Publ. Comp., Inc., Sydney

Davachi, N., & Musielak, Z. E. 2019, J. Undergrad. Rep. Phys., 29, 100004

Deguchi, S., Fujiwara, Y., & Nakano, K. 2019, Ann. Phys., 403, 34-46

de Maupertuis, P. L. M. 1744, Mém. As. Sc. Paris, 417

Doughty, N. A. 1990, Lagrangian Interaction: An Introduction to Relativistic

Symmetry in Electrodynamics and Gravitation, Addison-Wesley

Douglas, J. 1941, Trans. Am. Math. Soc., 50 (1941), 71-128

Edelen, D.G. 1962, Archive for Rational Mechanics and Analysis, 11, 117-121

El-Nabulsi, R. A. 2017, Int. J. Theor. Phys., 56, 1159

El-Nabulsi, R.A. 2011, App. Math. Lett., 24, 1647

El-Nabulsi, R.A. 2014 Anal. Theor. Appl., 30, 1

Ericksen, J. L. 1962, Archive for Rational Mechanics and Analysis, 10, 1, 189-196

Euler, L. 1744 Lausanne: Bousquet. [Reprinted in Leonhardi Euleri Opera Omnia. Series 1, vol. 24. Zurich: Orell Fuessli, 1952.]

Feshbach, H., & Tikochinsky, Y. 1977, Transact. N. Y. Acad. Sci., 38, 44–53

Figueroa, W., et al. 2020, J. Phys.: Conf. Ser. 1448 012001

Finn, J. M. 2008, Classical Mechanics, Infinity, Science Press LLC, Hingham, MA

Fry, J. L., & Musielak, Z. E. 2010, Ann. Phys., 325, 2668

Goldstein, H., Poole, C. P., & Safko, J. L. 2002, Classical Mechanics (3rd Edi-

tion), Addison-Wesley, San Francisco, CA, 2002

Gompertz, B. 1825, Phil Trans Roy Soc. 27, 513-85

Grigore, D. R. 1995, J. Phys. A, 28, 2921

Grigore, D. R. 1999, Progr. Phys. 47, 913-936

Grigore, D.R. 1999, Differential Geometry and Applications, Proceedings of the 7th International Conference, Masaryk University, Brno, 481-491

Hamilton, W. R. 1834, Phil. Trans. R. Soc. Lond., 124, 247–308 Havas, P. 1957, Nuovo Cimento, 5, 363

Hojman, S. 1984, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen., 17, 2399

Hojman, S., Pardo, F., Aulestia, L., & De Lisa, F. 1992, Journal of Mathematical Physics, 33(2), 584-590

Jammer, M. 2000, Concepts of Mass in Contemporary Physics and Philosophy, Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ

Jammer, M. 1997, Concepts of Mass in Classical and Modern Physics, Dover Publications, Inc., Mineola, NY

José, J. V., & Saletan, E. J. 2002, Classical Dynamics, A Contemporary Approach, Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge

Kahn, P. B. 1990, Mathematical Methods for Scientists and Engineers, Wiley, New York, NY

Kanai, E. 1948, On the quantization of the dissipative systems. *Prog. Theor. Phys.*, 3, 440–442

Karjanto, N. 2019, arXiv:1912.10683v1

Kermack, W. O. & McKendrick, A. G. 1927, Proc. Roy. Soc. Lond. A, 115, 700-721

Kerner, E. H. 1964, Bulletin of Mathematical Biophysics, 26, 333-349

Krupka, D. 1973, Folia Fac. Sci. Nat. Univ. Purk. Brunensis, Physica, vol. 14Krupka, D. 1977, *Czechoslovak Mathematical Journal*, 27(1), 114-117

Krupka, D., Krupkova, O. & Saunders, D. 2010, Int. J. Geom. Meth. Mod.

Phys., 7, 631 – 654

Krupka, D., & Musilova, J. 1998, Diff. Geom. Appl., 9, 225

Lagrange, J. L. 1997, Analytical Mechanics, Springer, Netherlands

Lagrange, J. L. 1788, Mechanique analytic., Paris

Landau, L. D., & Lifschitz, E. M. 1969, Mechanics, Pergamon Press, Oxford

Levy-Leblond, J.-M. 1969 Comm. Math. Phys., 12, 64

Levy-Leblond, J.-M. 1967, Comm. Math. Phys., 6, 286

Levy-Leblond, J.-M. 1963, J. Math. Phys., 4, 776

Lopuszanski, J. 1999, The Inverse Variational Problems in Classical Mechanics, World Scientific, Singapore

Lotka, A. J. 1925, Elements of physical biology, Baltimore

Mathai, A., & Haubold, H. 2008, Special Functions for Applied Scientists, Springer, NY

Merzbacher, E. 1998, Quantum Mechanics, 3rd Edition, John Wiley and Sons, Hoboken

Miller, W. 1968, Journal of Mathematics and Mechanics, 1143-1174

Murphy, G. M. 2011, Ordinary Differential Equations and Their Solutions, Dover Publication, Inc., New York

Musielak, Z. E. 2008, J. Phys. A Math. Theor., 41, 055205

Musielak, Z. E. 2009, Chaos, Solitons Fractals, 42, 2640

Musielak, Z. E., Vestal, L. C., Tran, B. D., & Watson, T. B. 2020, *Physics*, 2, 425

Musielak, Z. E. 2021, *Physics*, 3, 903

Musielak, Z. E., & Fry, J. L. 2009, Ann. Phys., 324, 296

Musielak, Z. E., & Watson, T. B. 2020, Phys. Let. A, 384, 126642

Nikiforov, A. F., & Uvarov, V.B. 1988, Special Functions of Mathematical

Physics, Birkhauser, Basel

Nucci, M. C., & Leach, P. G. L. 2007 J. Math. Phys., 48, 123510

Olver, P. J. 1993, Applications of Lie Groups to Differential Equations, Springer-Verlag, New York

Olver, P. J., & Sivaloganathan, J. 1989, Nonlinearity, 1, 389

Olver, P. J. 2022, J Elast

Oro, D. 2013, Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution, 1 Paine, G. H. 1982, Bulletin of Mathematical Biology, 44, 749-760

Pais, A., & Uhlenbeck, G. E. 1950, Phys. Rev., 79, 145–165

Pham, D. T., & Musielak, Z. E., Lagrangian Formalism in Biology: I. Standard Lagrangians and their Role in Population Dynamics (under review)

Rai, V., & Upadhyay, R. K. 2004, Chaos, Solitons Fractals, 21 (5), 1195-1204
Ray, J. R. 1979, Am. J. Phys., 47, 626–629

Razavy, M. 2017, Classical and Quantum Dissipative Systems, World Scientific, Singapore

Saccomandi, G. & Vitolo, R. 2006 J. Math. Sciences, 136, 4470

Saha, A., & Talukdar, B. 2014, Rep. Math. Phys., 73, 299–309,

Saunders, D. J. 2015, Math. Slovaca, 65, 1063–1078

Segovia, A. L., Vestal, L. C., & Musielak, Z. E. 2022, *Phys. Lett. A*, 453, 128457

Segovia-Chaves, F. 2018, *Rev. Mex. Fisica E*, 64, 47–51

Teschl, G. 2012, Ordinary Differential Equations and Dynamical Systems, American Math. Soc. Press

Thieme, K. 2020, Null Lagrangians of non-local field theories

Torres del Castillo, G. 2019, Revista Mexicana de Física E., 65, 103–104 Tru-

batch, S. L. & Franco, A. 1974, J. Theor. Biol, 48, 299-324

Turchin, P. 2003a., University Press, Princeton, NJ. Turchin, P. 2003b., Nature,

424:257-258. van Oosten, A. B. 2006, Apeiron, 13, 449

Verhulst, P. F. 1838, Correspondance mathématique et physique, 10, 113-21

Vestal, L. C., & Musielak, Z. E. 2021, *Physics*, 3, 449

Vestal, L. C., & Musielak, Z. E. 2023 (submitted)

Vitolo, R. 1999, Diff. Geom. Appl., 10, 293-305

Volterra, V. 1926, Nature, 18, 1-42

Helmholtz, H. 1887, J. f. d. Reine u. Angew Math., 100, 137-166.

Vujanovic, B. D., & Jones, S. E. 1989, Variational Methods in Nonconservative

Phenomena, Academic Press: New York, NY

Weiss, U. 2008, Quantum Dissipative Systems, World Scientific, Singapore

Wigner, E. P. 1939, Ann. Math., 40, 149